

TOWARD A NATIONAL HEALTH INFORMATION INFRASTRUCTURE: A KEY STRATEGY FOR IMPROVING QUALITY IN LONGTERM CARE

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy

Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation

The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) is the principal advisor to the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) on policy development issues, and is responsible for major activities in the areas of legislative and budget development, strategic planning, policy research and evaluation, and economic analysis.

The office develops or reviews issues from the viewpoint of the Secretary, providing a perspective that is broader in scope than the specific focus of the various operating agencies. ASPE also works closely with the HHS operating divisions. It assists these agencies in developing policies, and planning policy research, evaluation and data collection within broad HHS and administration initiatives. ASPE often serves a coordinating role for crosscutting policy and administrative activities.

ASPE plans and conducts evaluations and research—both in-house and through support of projects by external researchers—of current and proposed programs and topics of particular interest to the Secretary, the Administration and the Congress.

Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy

The Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy (DALTCP) is responsible for the development, coordination, analysis, research and evaluation of HHS policies and programs which support the independence, health and long-term care of persons with disabilities—children, working age adults, and older persons. The office is also responsible for policy coordination and research to promote the economic and social well-being of the elderly.

In particular, the office addresses policies concerning: nursing home and community-based services, informal caregiving, the integration of acute and long-term care, Medicare post-acute services and home care, managed care for people with disabilities, long-term rehabilitation services, children's disability, and linkages between employment and health policies. These activities are carried out through policy planning, policy and program analysis, regulatory reviews, formulation of legislative proposals, policy research, evaluation and data planning.

This report was prepared under contract #282-98-0006 between the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy and Abt Associates. For additional information about this subject, you can visit the DALTCP home page at http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/home.htm or contact the ASPE Project Officer, Jennie Harvell, at HHS/ASPE/DALTCP, Room 424E, H.H. Humphrey Building, 200 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20201. Her e-mail address is: Jennie.Harvell@hhs.gov.

TOWARD A NATIONAL HEALTH INFORMATION INFRASTRUCTURE:

A KEY STRATEGY FOR IMPROVING QUALITY IN LONG-TERM CARE

Marcelline R. Harris, RN, Ph.D. Mayo Clinic

Christopher G. Chute, MD, Dr.P.H. Mayo Clinic

Jennie Harvell, M.Ed. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Alan White, Ph.D. Abt Associates

Terry Moore Abt Associates

May 2003

Prepared for
Office of Disability, Aging, and Long-Term Care Policy
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Contract #282-98-0006

We are grateful to Jack Schnelle, Keela Herr, and Nancy Bergstrom for their assistance in identifying the key clinical data they believed essential to making judgments of quality of care related to their specific area of expertise and helpful discussion and feedback. We also thank Andy Kramer for valuable comments on earlier drafts.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXI	ECUT	ΓΙVE SUMMARY	<u>Page</u> iv	
l.	TOWARD A NATIONAL HEALTH INFORMATION INFRASTRUCTURE A National Health Information Infrastructure			
	B.	Health Information Standards for Interoperable Health Data Messaging Standards Clinical Document Architecture Standard Standards for Terminology Coding Systems SNOMED CT ICF ICNP	4 5 5 9	
	C.	Federal Support of Terminologies Consolidated Health Informatics Initiative	12	
	D.	The MDS: An Example of a Legacy Coding System	13	
	E.	Summary	14	
II.	THE A.	E MINIMUM DATA SET FOR NURSING FACILITIES		
	В.	Payment	16	
	C.	Quality Indicators and Quality Measures	16	
	D.	MDS Completion	18	
	E.	MDS Accuracy	18	
	F.	The MDS in Relation to the NHII	19	
	G.	Summary	19	
III.	A C	CONTENT COVERAGE STUDY	21	

	Α.	Purpose of the Study	21			
	B.	Selection of Study Focus Areas Pressure Ulcers and Pressure Ulcer Risk Chronic Pain Urinary Incontinence	22 22			
	C.	Identification of Terms ACOVE Indicators Domain Experts Quality Indicators and Quality Measures Terms Abstracted From the MDS	23 24 25			
	D.	Terminology and Classification Coding Systems	27			
	E.	Coding Procedures	28			
IV.	RES A.	Comparison of Terms: ACOVE Indicators, Domain Experts, and QIs/QMs	29 29			
	В.	Content Coverage for Terms Provided by Domain Experts	30			
	C.	Content Coverage Provided for Terms Within the Minimum Data Set	32			
V.	DISC A.	CUSSION Essential Data Elements for Inferring Quality				
	B.	Content Coverage Provided by Terminology Coding Systems	40			
	C.	Implications Related to Patient Medical Record Information System Developments	40			
	D.	Implications for the MDS	41			
	E.	Summary	42			
REFERENCES 44						

	APPENDIX A.	ACOVE Indicators	
	APPENDIX B.	Terms Abstracted from Domain Experts Reports	
	APPENDIX C.	Examples of MDS-Derived Quality Indicators	
	APPENDIX D.	Examples of MDS-Derived Quality Measures	
	APPENDIX E.	Contact Information, Terminology Coding Systems	
	APPENDIX F.	Terms Abstracted from the MDS	
	APPENDIX G.	Terms Provided by Domain Experts, Partial or No Matches	
	APPENDIX H.	References Provided by Domain Experts	
LIS	T OF TABLES TABLE 1.	A Comparison of Recommended Data Elements to Infer Quality of Care for Persons with Pressure Ulcers/At Risk for Pressure Ulcers	33
	TABLE 2.	A Comparison of Recommended Data Elements to Infer Quality of Care for Persons with Chronic Pain	35
	TABLE 3.	A Comparison of Recommended Data Elements to Infer Quality of Care for Persons with Urinary Incontinence	36
	TABLE 4.	Content Coverage Provided by Selected Coding Systems for Terms Related to Three Domains of Quality: Chronic Pain, Pressure Ulcers, and Urinary Incontinence	37
	TABLE 5.	Content Coverage Provided by Selected Coding Systems for All Terms Within the Minimum Data Set	38

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The availability of detailed and clinically relevant data is essential for clinical care decisions and essential for oversight groups making decisions related to the quality of that care. The Institute of Medicine has repeatedly emphasized that cost-effective, high quality health care is linked to the availability of information, and that computerized patient medical record information systems are an essential strategy in improving the quality of care. A National Health Information Infrastructure (NHII) has been identified by numerous advisory panels and experts as essential for improving patient safety and quality, controlling rising health care costs, and responding to health care crises (e.g., bioterrorist attacks). The technology to support the NHII is available. Implementation awaits a coordinated national effort, particularly around health information standards.

The purpose of the NHII is to share information and knowledge when and where needed. An essential building block of the NHII is adoption and use of agreed upon terminology and messaging standards. Terminology standards provide an unambiguous, machine-readable meaning of specific terms. Messaging standards permit the electronic exchange of information in a consistent format. Terminology and messaging standards will allow the inter-operable use and exchange of healthcare information. Much of the discussion about electronic health information standards has arisen within the acute care arena. In long-term care, there has been limited discussion related to electronic health information standards.

There were three objectives of this study. The first objective was to determine, as a pilot activity, whether leading terminology and classification systems provided content coverage to support clinical decision-making and quality of care oversight in nursing homes as recommended by clinical experts and as reflected in the literature. The three domain areas of pressure ulcers, chronic pain, and urinary incontinence provided the focus of this content coverage study. The second objective of this study was to examine the content of the federally required nursing home minimum data set (MDS) to determine whether it provides the information needed to understand quality of care in nursing homes in the three selected domains. Third, the study also examined the extent to which the content of MDS was captured by the three terminology systems described below.

Nursing homes are presently required to complete the nursing home MDS at numerous points during a resident's stay in a nursing facility. MDS data is used for several regulatory purposes including supporting the Medicare and sometimes Medicaid nursing facility payment methods and developing nursing home quality indicators and quality measures.

One formal terminology system and two classification systems were examined in this study: the Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine -- Clinical Terms (SNOMED CT),

International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF), and International Classification of Nursing Practice (ICNP). SNOMED CT was developed specifically as a comprehensive, detailed clinical terminology system, and is structured in a way that takes advantage of new computer-based technologies for clinical information systems. SNOMED CT was selected for this study because it is considered to be the most comprehensive terminology system. Given the scope of clinical terms included in SNOMED CT and its acceptance by healthcare providers, the federal government is pursuing an agreement with the developers of this terminology that would make SNOMED CT widely available for use within the U.S. In contrast to SNOMED CT, ICF and ICNP were developed as classification systems, not detailed clinical terminologies. The ICF classifies many terms related to disability, an issue that many nursing home residents and that providers must address. The ICNP emphasizes the classification of terms relevant to nursing practice, a discipline very important to nursing home services.

The terms, data elements, and concepts needed to understand nursing home quality in the three domains were obtained through consultation with nationally recognized experts in each of the domains and a review of the literature.

Regarding the first objective, this report demonstrates that a comprehensive, internationally recognized formal terminology system such as SNOMED CT provides relatively complete coverage of terms suggested by the experts and the literature as needed to understand quality in the domains of pain, incontinence and pressure ulcers. Specifically, the study found the following complete match rates of terms in SNOMED CT and the terms recommended by experts: 77% for pressure ulcers, 92% for chronic pain, and 95% for urinary incontinence.

The ICF and the ICNP did not provide nearly as comprehensive coverage as SNOMED CT. The ICF was found to have the following complete match rates of the terms suggested by experts: 18%, 4%, and 4% for the domains of pressure ulcers, pain, and incontinence, respectively. The ICNP was found to perform equally poorly, with the following complete match rates of the terms suggested by experts: 16%, 3%, and 4% for the domains of pressure ulcers, pain, and incontinence, respectively. The differences between the content coverage provided by SNOMED CT and both ICF and ICNP illustrate why comprehensive, detailed clinical terminologies are essential components of the NHII. If clinically relevant data are captured at the point of care and encoded using a reference terminology system, algorithms can be written that enable the derivation of more usespecific classifications or reports (e.g., ICF, ICNP, or MDS). Perhaps more importantly, clinical data collected at the point of care can also be made available for "real time" applications such as automated alerts and clinical decision support systems, an important strategy for improving the quality of care. Clinical data, entered once at the point of care and encoded using a reference terminology system, are then said to be "re-usable" for multiple applications.

With respect to the second objective, the report indicates that the design and content of the MDS reflect the technology available at the time the MDS was originally developed. The report describes the MDS as an enumerated coding scheme that was designed to meet predefined needs for clinical data and information, and, as such, is not based on any standardized terminology system (i.e., a coding scheme that would permit the unambiguous exchange of information across the healthcare continuum).

The study found the nursing home MDS provided very limited coverage of terms suggested by experts as needed to understand nursing home quality in the domains of pain and incontinence. Overall, in the domains of incontinence and pain, fewer than 10% of the terms suggested by the clinical experts and literature as needed to understand nursing home quality had a complete match in the MDS. The MDS performed better with respect to pressure ulcers. The MDS provides an exact match for 70% of the pressure ulcer terms identified by the clinical experts and the literature needed to understand nursing home quality. Overall, this report concludes that the MDS does not capture information the experts said would be needed to measure nursing home quality in the three domains.

Finally regarding the third objective, most of the information collected using the MDS is not captured by SNOMED CT, ICF, or ICNP. Specifically, with respect to the extent to which SNOMED CT included any of the terms in the MDS, SNOMED CT was found to provide a complete match for 46% of the MDS terms. The ICF and ICNP were found to provide almost no coverage of the terms included on the MDS. Overall, a complete match rate of terms in the MDS and those in the ICF and ICNP was found 2% and 12% of the time, respectively.

Today, health information systems are expected to meet a variety of changing demands for data and information to support many purposes (e.g., automated alerts, decision support, quality monitoring, payment policy, and outcomes research). Standardized terminology systems are essential to permit the use and exchange of clinical data across applications and systems. Given point of care documentation, technology is now available to build electronic health information systems that will efficiently meet a variety of needs including: providing immediate feedback to care providers by, for example, issuing alerts related to relevant best practice guidelines, generating data needed for internal and external quality monitoring, exchanging critical patient information in a timely manner across the health care continuum, and reducing provider burden associated with current documentation requirements.

One of the most significant challenges to implementing electronic health information systems is the lack of standards for electronic patient medical record information, especially standards around the terminology that expresses clinical documentation. Achieving the promise of the NHII requires a coordinated national effort to adopt standardized terminologies, permitting the extension of inter-operable electronic health

information systems into long-term care. Efforts to develop payment and quality monitoring methods that are derived from clinical documentation systems in long-term care must be consistent with the underpinnings of the NHII. Failure to do so could only continue and exacerbate provider data collection burden and limit the scope, and, therefore, the utility of the NHII as a key strategy for improving the quality of care.

I. TOWARD A NATIONAL HEALTH INFORMATION INFRASTRUCTURE

There has been growing interest in the use of electronic health information systems. The Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS), Tommy Thompson, has emphasized as one of his main priorities the use of information technology in healthcare. In November of 2001 the National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics (NCVHS) issued a report to Secretary of HHS that called for Federal leadership in establishing a National Health Information Infrastructure (NHII). That report followed an 18-month period of hearings and consultations with consumers, providers, public health professionals, technology specialists, and policy makers. The first section of this paper provides an overview of the NCVHS report, and is followed by a discussion of the need for standards in order to achieve the goals of the NHII, the critical role of clinical terminologies in patient medical record information (PMRI) systems, and a discussion of the Minimum Data Set (MDS), a component of the Resident Assessment Instrument for Medicare and Medicaid certified nursing facilities in relation to NHII initiatives.

A. A National Health Information Infrastructure

Demands for readily available health care information have increased dramatically in recent years. Demographic changes such as an aging population with increased chronic illness and a more mobile population have created needs for larger volumes of health information and more easily transferable information. Most recently, concerns about bioterrorism have focused attention on the need for a public health information infrastructure with the capability of providing aggregated information on a real-time basis. The delivery of cost-effective, high quality health care in order to meet national goals for healthy people and healthy populations is now clearly linked to the availability of information.

The NCVHS is a public advisory committee authorized by statute to advise the Secretary of Health and Human Services on national health information policy. It concluded in its NHII report that "implementation of the NHII will have a dramatic impact on the effectiveness, efficiency, and overall quality of health and health care in the U.S." (p. 2). Presently, health information is typically maintained in paper records, in many locations for each patient, including: physician offices, laboratories, hospitals and departments within hospitals (e.g., radiology departments), and with post-acute care providers such as nursing homes and home health agencies. Paper medical records are difficult to read, poorly organized, and are frequently incomplete or unavailable. These problems are particularly pronounced for nursing home patients, who frequently have chronic health conditions and may be transferred to and from providers across the health care continuum.

The vision of the NHII is premised on a foundation of sharing relevant information and knowledge appropriately so that it is available to people when they need it to make the best possible health decisions. The argument put forward by the NCVHS was that with federal leadership as the cornerstone, human, institutional, and technological factors could be developed and brought together in way that enables many forms of communication and support for personal, provider, and public health concerns. The NCVHS report provided examples of how the NHII could improve the quality of health care:

For Consumers

- N Real time remote medical consultations wherever the person is located,
- N Online search for health information and looking for health care providers,
- N Management of one's own health care needs and their health care decision making;

For Providers

- N Providing access to more accurate and complete real-time patient data,
- N Using clinical guidelines and protocols concurrently with the patient care process,
- N Preventing adverse events by providing real time practice warnings to clinicians integrated with the patient care process,
- N Supporting continuous quality improvement processes by providing more complete and comprehensive clinical data for outcomes analysis;

For Public Health/Regulators

- N Improving the ability to identify, monitor, and respond to health problems,
- N Accessing and reporting data needed for public health,
- N Increasing the scope, effectiveness, and efficiency of clinical research.

Key characteristics of the NHII include data capture, storage, processing, and presentation of health information, all within secure, confidential environments. Examples of the desired functionality that would result from a fully implemented NHII include:

- Universal use of electronic medical records that capture all health information regardless of the setting in which a patient is receiving services;
- The ability to send and receive messages across health care settings and communities about a patient's health status whenever and wherever needed;
- Automatic electronic reporting to public health for early detection and response to unusual health patterns (such as bioterrorism);
- The provision of real-time clinical decision support (for example, about the efficacy of certain drug treatments or the effectiveness of particular interventions) to health care

professionals allowing more rapid widespread application of research findings in routine patient care;

- The ability to aggregate non-identified patient care information to rapidly provide evidence regarding the outcomes and efficacy of health interventions;
- The ability to more accurately and promptly monitor quality of health care services;
 and
- Reducing the administrative burden on health care practitioners associated with filling out forms, thus allowing providers to focus on delivery of services.

Key to achieving such functionality is point of service documentation in electronic record systems. For example, clinical decision support systems can be developed that "trigger" alerts related to needed assessments or suggest interventions that reflect best practices known to influence quality outcomes. But first, relevant data needs to be documented and coded in a uniform manner so that it can be mapped from the clinical data to an electronic knowledge base.

It is important to recognize that the NHII does not describe a centralized database of patient information. Rather, the vision is for *distributed* health information built on a framework within secure networks with strict confidentiality protections. Given this system architecture, health information could be stored in many locations: electronic record systems in provider offices and health care facilities, organizational databases, personal health cards, etc.

The rapid development and deployment of new information technologies enable data to be captured at the point of acquisition, and then stored, indexed, and retrieved in electronic formats for selective use as required across multiple settings, health care systems, and software applications. This means that if clinical data are carefully structured and encoded in a uniform manner, those data can be electronically transferred, shared, exchanged, and meaningfully used to support a variety of uses such as decision support, quality assessments, individual patient or population surveillance and outcomes analyses, or regulatory reporting. The vision is for the algorithmic retrieval, aggregation, and reuse of data from clinical records to meet multiple needs. Achieving such "interoperability" across systems and applications requires agreement on and adoption of standards for health information systems.

B. Health Information Standards for Interoperable Health Data

A major impediment to the development of the NHII is the lack of complete and comprehensive standards for electronic patient medical record information (PMRI). In its February 2002 letter to the Secretary of Health and Human Services the NCVHS wrote that "Standards for PMRI are important because they will facilitate significant improvements in the quality of patient care, promote patient safety, control rising healthcare costs, enhance the productivity of clinical research and strengthen the nation's ability to detect and respond to healthcare emergencies. They are critical to the creation of a National Health Information Infrastructure."²

Data interoperability, or the exchange of consistent and comparable data and information in electronic health information systems, can be accomplished only when developers and vendors adopt and use standards that allow one software program to communicate information to another and when the terms used mean the same thing. Compliance with standards assures that data and information are transmitted and received in a specific, structured form that enables data interoperability, comparability, and data quality. Congress demonstrated a commitment to this with the passage of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), requiring standards in connection with electronic payment, and the NCVHS is actively promoting data standards in conjunction with the broader goal of a national health information infrastructure.

For health care information systems, several types of data standards are needed. The emphasis of this project is on terminology. However, a brief discussion of standards related to sending messages in electronic systems and standards related to clinical document architecture standards is provided to highlight the need for coordinated standards in several critical areas in order to ensure data interoperability.

Messaging Standards

The Health Level Seven (HL7) Messaging Standard Version 2.2 and higher was recommended to the Secretary of Health and Human Services by the NCVHS as the messaging format standards for the PMRI.² HL7 is a not-for-profit volunteer standards development organization that brings together developers, users, and vendors of electronic health record systems to develop standards that enable the exchange, or interoperability, of data and information across health care applications (www.hl7.org).

HL7 messaging standards specify the technical aspects of sending messages so that one software program can exchange information with another and have that information "understood" by the receiving machine. The format of the current version of the standard was developed for order entry, scheduling, medical record/image management, patient administration, observation reporting, financial management, and patient care transactions. An example of an HL7 ADT transaction message follows³:

OBX|2|ST|93000.1^VENTRICULAR RATE(EKG)|91|/MIN|60-100<cr>

This message is reporting an observation/result (OBX). Key fields in the message include the value type (string), the observation identifier (93000.1^ventricular rate (EKG)), the observation value (91), the units (beats/minute), and the reference or normal range for this test (60-100). It is important to recognize that HL7 messaging standards only provide for the structure of the message; they do not provide content for that message. The message standard is analogous to an envelope in which one can insert a letter; coded terminologies provide the content of the message.

The HL7 version 3 messaging standard currently under development is of particular interest because, in contrast to specifying the slots into which data and values are inserted as in the example above, version 3 will specify the complex data model (or information model) that carries the meaning or semantics of the data; HL7 version 3 will provide the syntax for messages that enables the vision of the NHII (i.e., make explicit the semantic and lexical connections that exist within the fields of HL7 messages). The terminologies provide the content of those messages. As a result, it will be technically possible to use data that was recorded at the point of care for multiple purposes, e.g., generating required patient assessment reports from clinical documentation systems.

Clinical Document Architecture Standard

The developing versions of the Clinical Document Architecture (CDA) standard highlight the need for coordinated approaches that will enable the electronic exchange of clinical documents (e.g., progress notes, histories). Also developed by HL7, the CDA standard is heavily dependent on, or leverages, the HL7 message formats mentioned above.

Essentially, a CDA standard is necessary to enable the algorithmic location of pertinent information within current documents, to logically organize documents in document management systems, to categorize information within the document according to a defined structure, and to display documents in electronic systems (including webbased and wireless systems). There is no uniform document structure for paper-based records in long-term care facilities. The lack of a uniform record structure presents significant constraints in deriving data from an electronic record to support reporting requirements such as the MDS.

Three releases of the CDA standard are planned and described by HL7. It is in the HL7 version 3 CDA standard that the format of the electronic medical record and clinical content of electronic documents will be formally specified and modeled using appropriately structured terminology coding systems (www.hl7.org).

Standards for Terminology Coding Systems

The phrase "terminology coding systems" refers to the continuum of approaches used to assure standardized recording and encoding of clinical data in electronic record systems. Such coded data is central to the efficient exchange of information in messages sent across documents, systems and applications. Various types of terminology coding systems exist on a continuum that ranges from human readable, enumerated coding schemes to formal terminologies that enable machine "understanding."

Enumerated coding schemes emphasize encoding *pre-coordinated phrases* that enable users to pick the most relevant terms from pre-defined lists. Typically, such systems provide a very limited coverage of clinical content, and focus only on the specific use for which those data are required. Such systems reflect the technology available 20 years ago and the constraints that were present in relation to coding data for computer based analysis. The MDS is an example of an enumerated coding scheme. The enormous collection of such single-purpose, stand-alone coding systems has created a situation often compared to the Tower of Babel (http://www.tc215wg3.nhs.uk/pages/pdf/vocterm.pdf), where different data sets and software applications are not able to meaningfully exchange or reuse data and information.

More recent research and development initiatives in electronic health records emphasize the use of formal terminologies. Formal terminology systems emphasize the indexing and retrieval of concepts and their associated terms, and the *post-coordination of phrases*.

Between the enumerated classification systems and formal terminologies that anchor this continuum are other types of terminology coding systems such as nomenclatures, classifications, and taxonomies. Each is differentiated by the nature of the organization of terms within the system and the concept orientation of the coding system. It is important to recognize that the development of more complex types of terminology systems is in large part enabled by the development of technologies that enable more complex data structures and the development and use of description logics based on first order logic as a foundation for the algorithms that enable the semantics or "machine understanding" of text.

The Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine Clinical Terms (SNOMED CT) is one of the most extensively developed terminologies of this type (http://www.snomed.org/). SNOMED CT is discussed more extensively below, but an example is provided here to clarify this discussion point. The pre-coordinated term "pneumonia due to Klebsiella pneumoniae" is equivalent to a phrase that could be post-coordinated using the following SNOMED CT codes: 56415008 "Klebsiella pneumoniae" and 233604007 "pneumonia". A portion of the SNOMED CT hierarchy is presented below. ⁵ SNOMED CT specifies that pneumonia:

Is-a disease of the lower respiratory tract *Finding site* lung structure

Onset (subacute, acute, insidious, sudden)
Severity (mild, moderate, severe)
Episodicity (first, new, ongoing, other)
Course (acute, acute diffuse, acute-on-chronic, etc.).

Similarly, SNOMED CT specifies that Klebsiella pneumoniae:

Is_a Klebsiella
Is_a enterobacteriaceae
Is_a gram-negative bacillus
Is_a gram-negative bacterium
Is_a bacterium
Is_a infectious agent
Is_a microorganism

The linkage concept "due_to" specifies the relationship between the two concepts of "pneumonia" and "Klebsiella pneumoniae." More complex expressions are possible, and can be constructed at the point of care, reflecting the clinically relevant data. Encoding of patient information is then accomplished through the post-coordination of the terms "pneumonia" "due to" and "Klebsiella pneumoniae", using a formalism such as description logics that function somewhat as an assembly language for expressing phrases.⁶

In this example, the goal is that in well-designed and standardized PMRI systems, all lab reports indicating the type of pneumonia would be located within a standard document architecture, a standard coding scheme would be used to name the pneumonia, and a message could be sent from the PMRI to a reporting document such as the MDS indicating the presence of pneumonia. With respect to pneumonia, the MDS only requires data on the presence or absence of pneumonia. That information could be "messaged" from the PMRI and the MDS form could be sent only with information indicating pneumonia, excluding information on the biological agent that caused the pneumonia. However it is important to retain more detail in automated patient records in order to construct decision support systems that might, for example, suggest cost-effective antibiotics for specific types of pneumonia, detect any possible drug-drug interactions, or enable the reporting of another type of pneumonia, e.g., "pneumonia in anthrax" to appropriate public health agencies.

The relationship of messaging standards, document architecture, and coded terminology systems and formalisms is equivalent to thinking about the grammar that enables us to put words together in order to communicate ideas. Achieving the vision of the NHII requires finding the relevant data within a source document (most easily achieved by creating documents in a structured fashion), composing expressions that include varying degrees of detail, and then "populating" the data fields of an HL7 version 3 message format for transmission to another application. Uniform data structures and

encoding are required to accomplish this. All participants, from vendors supplying the software to providers to the government agencies providing oversight of quality, public health, and health policy, must adopt uniform data standards if the data are to be interoperable, or exchanged across applications and systems. The goal is similar to the use of an ATM card to deposit and withdraw cash at locations remote from one's bank; a major difference is that we all agree on the naming and value of monetary units while we do not agree on how to name our clinical data, or how to formally represent those data.

To date, the NCVHS has not recommended standards around terminology systems. However, desirable characteristics of formal terminologies are well described in the literature and are briefly summarized below.^{7,8,9}

Concept orientation: Tools that empower users to adapt "local terms" to reference terminologies are required when the concepts the terms represent are equivalent. For example, "pressure sores" may be the locally preferred term while "pressure ulcers" is the term in the reference terminology. Therefore well-formed terminologies must accommodate both synonymy and lexical variants, and a thesaurus must be available for automated identification of terms associated with concepts. A promising way to accomplish this is by assembling components into a dynamic terminology server, rather than presenting users with a laundry list of all possible terms.

Comprehensive and complete: Well-formed terminologies must provide the depth and breadth of content coverage relevant to specific domains. This means there must be a way to express all the clinical content required for a wide range of specified uses.

Atomic and compositional: Well-formed terminologies must ensure that "atomic" levels of data are available and that the meaning of atomic level data elements is preserved when combined or post-coordinated with other concepts. A closely related requirement is that concepts are organized within the framework of a reference terminology system that enables the assembly of atomic concepts into more complex expressions (as in the earlier pneumonia example).

Explicit formalism (e.g., description logic): Well-formed terminologies must have a formal logic or inference engine that enables the post-coordination of more complex expressions from atomic level data elements. Presently, description logics appear best suited to this task.

Multiple classifications: In order to support the reuse of clinical data across multiple special purpose classification systems, terminologies must enable concepts to be mapped to multiple "parents". For example, one MDS data element is "short-term memory," and the most similar SNOMED CT term is "uncompensated short term memory deficit." The short-term memory item in the MDS indicates that the patient "seems/appears to recall after 5 minutes." If using the SNOMED CT system for encoding

data, one would need to decide which of the following parent classifications represents the intended use of the data.

"Uncompensated short term memory deficit" is classified in SNOMED CT as

Is_a
finding of memory performance
memory finding
functional finding
clinical history and observation finding
finding
SNOMED CT concept

"Uncompensated short term memory deficit" is also classified in SNOMED CT as

Interprets

short-term memory performance
verbal short-term memory performance
ability to recall random address at five minutes
ability to recall five digit number at five minutes
visual short-term memory performance
ability to reproduce geometric figure at five minutes

Representation of context: Some experts in the field of electronic medical records believe that well-formed terminologies must be coordinated with structural models of clinical documents within the electronic record in order to disambiguate meaning from use (http://www.hl7.de/cda2002). For example, "History of heart disease" means something very different when recorded in a family history section of the record than when recorded in a past medical history section of the record.

Clearly, the needs for health care data and information reflect multiple and complex uses of that information, and the requirements for terminology systems are extensive. Without terminology standards that support the composition and de-composition of clinically relevant and detailed expressions, interoperability and reuse of patient data across applications and systems will be seriously constrained. Formal terminology coding systems are critical to the success of uniform coding in PMRI systems and to support the evolution of the NHII. This study focuses on three coding systems. Only SNOMED CT has been developed with the specific purpose of meeting the requirements of a reference terminology for PMRI systems. The other two coding systems, ICF and ICNP, are included because they are believed to include many of the definitions and classifications of terms in two subject areas that are particularly relevant to long-term care (functioning, disability and health; and nursing).

SNOMED CT

The Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine -- Clinical Terms (SNOMED CT) is one of the most extensive terminology systems available. Its development represents collaboration between the College of American Pathologists (CAP) and the United Kingdom's National Health Services. The development of SNOMED CT can be been traced back to 1928 when the New York Academy of Medicine convened a forum to develop a new model for representing diseases and procedures. That multi-axial system eventually became the Standard Nomenclature of Diseases and Operations (SNDO) and provided the foundation for modern clinical terminologies. A consistent goal of all subsequent developers of the SNOMED works has been a terminology that is comprehensive enough for indexing the entire medical record.

SNOMED CT is structured in a way that emphasizes a computer readable format. A description logic based formalism supports navigation throughout the multiple hierarchies and allows for the composition of atomic level terms into more complex terms. The most recent version, SNOMED CT July 2002 Release, was used in this study and includes 330,000 concepts, 850,000 synonyms, and 50,000 semantic or defining relationships, for a total of over 1,000,000 terms. This terminology coding system is specifically designed to be embedded or enabled within computer based systems; a browser enables human navigation of the SNOMED CT hierarchies (www.snomed.org).

SNOMED CT was included in this study because it is a formal terminology and has the potential to serve as a convergent or reference terminology. The core data structure in which SNOMED CT is distributed includes a concepts table, a descriptions table, and a relationships table. SNOMED CT is available for use through an annual, renewable license and is distributed in a variety of electronic formats. There are ongoing discussions concerning between the federal government and CAP, that if ratified, would make SNOMED CT generally available for health care use in the U.S.

ICF

The International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) is an example of a terminology coding system developed to meet a specific need. ICF is one of the families of classifications developed and maintained by the World Health Organization (http://www.who.int). The aims of the developers of the ICF were to provide a scientific basis for understanding the distribution and determinants of health and health-related states; establish a common language in order to improve communication among users of such data; permit comparisons on functioning, disability, and health across countries, providers, settings, and programs, and provide a coding scheme for health information systems.¹¹ ICF was included in this study because of its emphasis on functional status (an important concept at least in long-term care) and the potential applicability of this terminology to persons in nursing homes.

An example of how ICF codes might be used follows. The ICF code "d4500" refers to "walking short distances." A performance qualifier can be added to this code by adding a fifth digit to the code. For example, "d4500.3" refers to "moderate restriction in performance of walking short distances." A capacity qualifier could be added to this code by adding a sixth digit; for example "d4500._3" refers to "severe capacity limitation in walking short distances."

The ICF is structured around a hierarchical classification of the domain of functioning, disability and health, grouping concepts and associated terms within the domain according to common characteristics or attributes. At the highest level are two broad classes, functioning and disability, and contextual factors. These two broad classes subsume other lower level classes. Qualifiers indicate the magnitude and/or direction of change in body function and structure, capacity and performance estimates related to activities and participation, and facilitators or barriers related to environmental factors. Users may combine terms across axes in order to create profiles of an individual's functioning. While coding rules are published, there is no formal logic available to support such compositions.

In July 2001 the NCVHS reported to the Secretary of Health and Human Services on uniform coding for functional status. NCVHS noted that while functional status information is recognized as essential for fostering the goals of healthy people and healthy populations, such information is often missing from clinical notes. The Committee further recommended the use of a uniform code set and classification system for concepts within the domain of functional status. The NCHS said that an internationally agreed upon classification and coding system was needed to support health care decision making, and that the ICF was the only viable code set presently available. However, the Committee also noted that intense work is needed to examine issues related to the ICF's adequacy, reliability, and validity before any recommendations are adopted about its widespread implementation in PMRI systems. Presently, the ICF is distributed as a book or CD, and a browser is available on the web (http://www3.who.int/icf/onlinebrowser/icf.cfm). The WHO made an electronic copy of the ICF table available for this study.

ICNP

The International Council of Nurses developed the International Classification of Nursing Practice (ICNP) as a way to facilitate the cross mapping of terms and existing nursing vocabularies and classifications such as those recognized by the American Nurses Association (http://www.nursingworld.org). The ICNP was included in this study because of its focus on nursing care, an emphasis clearly related to the issue of quality in nursing homes.

Structurally, the ICNP exists as two multiaxial systems.¹³ At the highest level are the three classes of phenomena, actions, and outcomes. The axes associated with the

phenomena class are focus, judgment, frequency, duration, topology, body site, likelihood, and bearer. By combining terms from these axes, statements can be composed that reflect the aspect of health (or problem/diagnosis) that is relevant to the nursing care provided. The outcomes class is a serial measure of these same phenomena statements, i.e. outcomes representing changes in phenomena over time. The actions class includes the axes of action type, target, means, time, topology, location, routes, and beneficiary. In a similar fashion, the goal is to compose statements that reflect actions taken by nurses in response to the problem/diagnosis statements composed. As a result of this structure, the ICNP could potentially support aggregation into higher-level categories for summarization, review, research, or administration. However as with ICF, there is no formal logic system by which to accomplish this. As an example, "1A.1.1.2.2.1.1.8.9.2" refers to a nursing focus of "walking," and a judgment of "1B.7.1.3" refers to "compromised to a high degree." A more complex expression can be post-coordinated by combining "walking" and "compromised to a high degree."

Across the multiple axes of the ICNP there is a somewhat uneven granularity of concepts. Most problematic from a computational perspective is that while some classes have clear hierarchical relationships among the terms in the axes, terms in other classes are arranged alphabetically. This is not problematic for human reading, but does create challenges for machine processing of the system. The ICNP is distributed as a book or CD, and a browser is available free of charge on the Web (www.icn.ch). Spreadsheets containing the ICNP axes were made available by the ICNP for this study.

C. Federal Support of Terminologies -- Consolidated Health Informatics Initiative

Given the federal government's role in providing and paying for health care, the standards used by the federal government can significantly influence decisions on the standards used by health care providers and vendors. The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) identified the Consolidated Health Informatics (CHI) initiative as one of the 24 electronic government initiatives supporting the President's Management Agenda (http://www.jrfii.com/chi). To accelerate the adoption and use of information standards and technology, the CHI will endorse, for future use in federal healthcare programs (i.e., HHS, VA, and DoD), clinical vocabularies and messaging standards that have widespread support and use within the private US health care community. The commitment of federal programs to use agreed upon clinical vocabularies and messaging standards will enable federal agencies to build interoperable federal health data systems, and will encourage the private sector to adopt electronic health information systems that will be compatible with those that federal government will employ, and vice versa. This federal leadership will help inform the private healthcare community's investment decisions in electronic health information systems.

In March 2003, the Departments of HHS, Defense, and Veterans Affairs announced the first set of uniform standards for electronic exchange of clinical health information to be adopted across the federal government. As part of new systems developments, these Departments will adopt HL7 messaging standards, laboratory terminology standards (LOINC), digital imaging standards (DIACOM), and other standards.

D. The MDS: An Example of a Legacy Coding System

Assessment tools such as the MDS meet predefined needs for data and information. Additionally, these data sets reflect the limitations of the technology that was available when the assessment form was first developed; data storage was far more expensive than it is today, databases were largely limited to "flat files" and the internet did not exist. Typically, forms with specific questions and phrases that reflect the end-users' need for data provide the structure by which persons record values that populate specific fields within the data set. In this approach to data entry, standardized terms, phrases, and sentences are presented in a highly structured format in order to encode concepts related to functioning and disability, thereby enabling consistent and comparable data. The recording of data is accomplished by people who complete the forms on paper and then enter the data into an electronic format, or by completing an electronic version of the form. Often the form provides a structure for organizing clinical data elements into categories that are later aggregated even further in order to meet the goals of various statistical classification and reporting requirements. The important point is that the person completing the form is presented with a limited set of terms and values and must understand the underlying purposes for which the data set was constructed in order to correctly complete the form. The amount and nature of information available for sharing and re-use for purposes such as automated alerts, decision support, quality monitoring, outcomes research and policy development is constrained by the limited scope of the data set.

In addition to the MDS, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) provides oversight of two other data sets that focus on the provision of post acute care services: the Outcome and Assessment Information Set (OASIS) for home care agencies, and the Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility Patient Assessment Instrument (IRF PAI) for rehabilitation units and hospitals. Each of these data sets was developed independently of the other. Consequently, different terms are used to describe similar clinical characteristics of beneficiaries, different rating scales are used, and the time periods in which assessments are completed differs, all limiting the comparability of the data. For example, the MDS requires that a value of 0-3 be entered into each of five data fields indicating over the course of seven days the frequency with which a resident exhibits a variety of behaviors classified as "behavioral symptoms". One item concerns each of the following: wandering, verbally abusive behavior symptoms, physically abusive behavioral symptoms, socially inappropriate/disruptive behaviors, and resists care. Behavioral

symptoms are further classified as "Mood and behavior patterns." The OASIS-B1 home care data set requires that a single item be checked indicating, over the course of one month, the "Frequency of behavior problems (e.g. wandering episodes, self abuse, verbal disruption, physical aggression, etc.)." These behavioral problems are further classified as "Neuro/emotional/behavioral status." The developers of both data sets were likely interested in the same clinical data. If specific and detailed clinical descriptions were recorded and indexed within the patient's medical record using standardized and uniform data standards, clinically relevant data could be and retrieved and aggregated for reporting requirements. The present situation seriously limits an analysis of the variation in patients and patient outcomes across post acute cares settings, and resulting in insufficient information on which to base policy decisions.¹⁴

This situation is not specific to post-acute care. The data sets on which most public health statistical reporting systems are based were similarly developed independent of each other, and are described as "a patchwork of data collection systems." Among the goals of the NHII is that reporting requirements could be *derived from* patient medical record information, and given well-coordinated systems consistent and comparable expressions of clinical data would be enabled.

E. Summary

In summary, achieving the vision of the NHII put forward by the NCVHS requires a high level of coordination among messaging standards, clinical document architecture standards, and standards for terminology coding systems. It is terminologies that provide the content that must be included in messages in electronic health information systems. Although no terminology standards have yet been recommended by NCVHS or the CHI, the characteristics of terminologies that will enable interoperability in electronic patient record systems are well described.

II. THE MINIMUM DATA SET FOR NURSING FACILITIES

The following section briefly describes the development and multiple uses of the federally required patient assessment form -- the Minimum Data Set (MDS) for Medicare and Medicaid certified nursing facilities (NFs). The uses addressed include assessment and care planning, payment, quality indicators, and quality measures. In addition, this section provides a short description of how the MDS is completed and concerns about MDS data accuracy. This section concludes with a brief summary of these issues and a discussion of how refinement of this patient assessment instrument could facilitate more efficient and accurate patient assessment data collection, support the implementation of electronic medical records and information systems in nursing homes, and further the evolution of the NHII.

A. Assessment and Care Planning

The quality of long-term care has long been a concern among consumers, providers of care, policy makers, and payers. In 1986 the Institute of Medicine (IOM) issued a study entitled, "Improving the Quality of Care in Nursing Homes." The focus of the study was to examine ways to improve the regulation of nursing homes to improve quality of care. A core theme that emerged from that study was the need to standardize assessment and care planning for nursing home residents.

Congress subsequently passed a law in 1987 that required the development of the MDS to ensure that each nursing home resident receives, at regular specified intervals, a comprehensive assessment and care plan designed to meet his/her needs. CMS (formerly known as the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA)) developed the MDS based on input from various disciplines. The MDS assessment includes more than 583 items that are used by facilities in performing comprehensive assessments of their residents. Thirteen domain areas are included in the MDS assessment: past medical history and medically defined conditions, medical status, functional status, physical and sensory impairments, nutritional status, special treatments or procedures, psychosocial status, discharge potential, dental condition, activities potential, rehabilitation potential, cognition, and drug therapy.¹⁷

Nationwide electronic collection of the MDS began in the 1990s. As required by statute for assessment and care planning, the MDS is required to be completed shortly after admission, annually, and quarterly thereafter. It is also required upon a significant change in the resident's condition. In most states, a shorter form is used for quarterly assessments than for the more comprehensive admission and annual assessments.

B. Payment

The MDS is also used in establishing Medicare skilled nursing facility (SNF) payment rates. Beginning in 1998, CMS began paying Medicare SNFs prospective payment rates adjusted using data from the MDS. CMS permits the use of yet another MDS form in calculating Medicare PPS payment rates. The MDS payment form is required to be completed at multiple points during a Medicare SNF stay. In addition, a number of States also use an MDS form to adjust Medicaid nursing facility payment rates.

C. Quality Indicators and Quality Measures

The NF quality is recognized as affecting a myriad of clinical outcomes that encompass functional, psychosocial and other aspects of resident health and well-being. In 2001 the IOM again published a report on the quality of long term care, emphasizing that "defining or evaluating quality of long-term care is fraught with problems, made more difficult by the unevenness of the available empirical evidence.... Opinions about what constitutes excellent, good, or poor quality also are changing and sometimes conflicting. Some of the available information is open to interpretation, and conclusions are sometimes based on personal and clinical experience rather than on empirical evidence." 18

Beginning in 1999, CMS began to use MDS data elements for the creation of "quality indicators" (QIs). These QIs are used in the nursing home survey process to indicate areas of potential quality problems which trigger more intensive review during a survey. A subset of these QIs are published on the CMS Nursing Home Compare Website as a source of public information about nursing home quality (http://www.medicare.gov/NHCompare/Home.asp). CMS believes that the quality indicators have been sufficiently validated to qualify as true measures of quality, although others question their validity. There has never been any published research on the relationship (validity) of these quality indicators to actual nursing home quality. A study of the validity of the more recently developed quality measures was completed (see discussion below). Although conceptually similar, the numerators and denominators within the ratios and the risk adjustments are constructed differently across the quality indicators and measures.

More recently, CMS embarked on an effort to develop "quality measures" (QMs) that could be used nationally to provide consumers with information about nursing home quality that would assist in their decision making process about nursing home placement. In an April 24, 2002 press release, Health and Human Services Secretary Tommy Thompson said, "A key step towards improving quality is getting consumers the information they need to make informed health care choices.... By generating and publishing quality data, we

are both helping consumers to make decisions that best meet their needs and creating market incentives for nursing homes to further improve quality."²⁰

CMS hired the National Quality Forum (NQF) to select, through a consensus process, measures of nursing home quality using MDS data elements. However, the NQF was unable to reach a consensus about which quality measures could be used in a national reporting effort and therefore delayed endorsing a nursing home measurement set. NQF members on various NQF councils were unable to approve all nursing home quality measures, particularly noting the need to review evidence of the validity of the proposed risk adjustment methods.²¹

Based on results from a study on the validity of nursing home quality measures, CMS determined that there was in fact sufficient information to select the new quality measures (derived from MDS data) and that those QMs that would be used in national reporting beginning in November 2002. Under contract to CMS, Abt Associates produced a report that, among other things, examined the inter-assessor agreement (a measure of reliability).²² The study found that all but one of the quality measures was reliable (i.e., a weighted kappa statistic value of .40 or higher).

Controversy surrounds even the new quality measures; in particular there continues to be considerable criticism about the adequacy of the risk-adjustment of these new measures and whether a more rigorous validation study would find relationships between these measures and actual nursing home quality. For example, one of three risk-adjustment experts consulted by the NQF to provide recommendations to CMS about the use of the quality measures as a source of consumer information concluded that "...it would be irresponsible to report any of these quality indicators to the public" because there is insufficient information "that these risk-adjusted quality indicators accurately identify facilities with quality of care problems." Similarly, the GAO recently concluded "although public reporting of quality indicators is a worthwhile goal, it is important for CMS to await and consider input ... to identify and evaluate appropriate quality indicators."

CMS responded, noting their intent to develop more refined measures: "As the process of choosing nursing home measures evolved, it became clear that the NQF needs adequate time to fully consider and discuss the Validation Report and to take into account any lessons learned from the Six-State Pilot Study. Once the NQF reaches consensus and delivers its recommendations, we expect to move to a timely implementation of the updated measures on Nursing Home Compare."

Clearly, significant challenges exist in providing useful and accurate information about quality in long-term care. Failure to reach agreement on a set of quality measures in nursing homes highlights one of the challenges in measuring nursing home quality. Nursing home quality is a multi-faceted concept. The continued use of the "QIs" in the survey process and as a source of consumer information on the Nursing Home Compare

website and the "QMs" as another type of consumer information and the mechanism to identify nursing homes in need of quality improvement underscores the uncertainty about how to measure nursing home quality. The number of QIs and QMs reflect a number of care domains that are of interest to different stakeholders. In addition, many believe that quality of life is at least equally important in understanding the quality of nursing home care, ²⁶ but are included in either the QIs or QMs.

D. MDS Completion

Presently, nursing facilities do not typically use electronic medical records or robust electronic health information systems. To complete the MDS, NF staff abstract data from medical records, talk with staff, and observe nursing home residents to gather information required for the MDS. NF staff typically record this information on a paper record and at a later time electronically encode and transmit this information to State and Federal Governments. Abt Associates found that "MDS coordinators who complete each MDS independently were often not at all involved in resident care, and did not work as part of an interdisciplinary team with caregivers to fill out the MDS" and that nursing home providers describe the MDS as "an excessive paperwork burden.... and a time-consuming task that is difficult to manage in the face of inadequate staffing levels and high turn-over rates."²⁷

E. MDS Accuracy

Several studies have identified serious accuracy problems with MDS data. The methods by which inaccuracies were determined varied across these studies but generally included either a review of whether medical record documentation contained information that supported the MDS findings and/or a comparison the nursing home's MDS assessments with those completed by highly trained nurses. The Abt MDS Accuracy Study reported that MDS error rates average 11.6 percent for all MDS items.²⁷ That study reported the least accurate sections of the MDS included cognitive patterns (Section B), psychosocial well being (Section F), physical functioning (Section G), skin condition (Section M), and activity pursuit patterns (Section N). The study also noted problems with under-reporting in the areas of: vision, health conditions, pain, and falls; and over-reporting problems in the areas of: IV medication, intake and output, and physical, occupational and speech therapies. These areas of greatest disagreement generally require substantial periods of observation as well as resident or family interview in order to accurately assess.

Similarly, a study conducted by the Office of the Inspector General (OIG) of the MDS assessments completed for 640 nursing home residents, found errors on 17 percent of the MDS data elements (i.e., 17 percent of the MDS data elements were not supported by information in the medical record).²⁸

In a study on nursing home resident assessment, the GAO reported that 9 of the 11 States that had MDS accuracy review programs found MDS errors occurring most frequently in the following categories: mood and behaviors, nursing rehabilitation and restorative care, activities of daily living, therapy, physician visits or orders, toileting plans, and skin conditions.²⁹

F. The MDS in Relation to the NHII

There are few indications that the evolution of federally required documents such as the MDS is being discussed in the context of a national health information infrastructure development. As observed by the IOM in its report entitled, *Leadership by Example: Coordinating Government Roles in Improving Health Care Quality*, "Growing evidence supports the conclusion that automated clinical information and decision support systems are critical to addressing the nation's health care quality gap.... Although it may be possible in the short run ... to rely on medical record abstraction ... greater computerization of clinical information will be required over the long run to sustain performance measurement, apply it to a broader range of conditions, and decrease the associated administrative burden on providers."³⁰

G. Summary

In summary, the MDS is a paper and pencil assessment form that summarizes data from a variety of sources, may be completed by person who are not knowledgeable about the resident, and is eventually encoded and transmitted electronically to State and Federal governments. MDS forms are used for a variety of purposes:

- N Comprehensive assessment and care planning;
- N Medicare, and, in some States, Medicaid payments;
- N Construction of quality indicators used in the survey process and as a source of public information; and
- N Construction of quality measures used as a source of public information.

MDS data inaccuracies can have implications for accurately assessing nursing home residents' needs and developing appropriate care plans, paying appropriate Medicare and Medicaid nursing home payment rates, adequately and appropriately monitoring quality of care, and reporting useful and accurate information about nursing home quality. Deriving administrative data requirements from clinically relevant information collected and recorded at the point of care would significantly reduce the burden providers presently experience in completing the MDS and likely improve the accuracy of data needed to support administrative requirements (e.g., payment, quality monitoring, and public reporting requirements). Most importantly, introducing electronic medical records and

information systems to long-term care would support important enhancements to quality of care when automated alerts, decision support can be built into point of care systems. As emphasized earlier, uniform descriptions of clinical data are essential to the success of any such initiative.

III. A CONTENT COVERAGE STUDY

This section describes the purpose of the present study; why the conditions of pressure ulcers, pain, and incontinence were selected; identification of terms, terminology coding systems included in the study, and the methods and procedures used.

A. Purpose of the Study

The study had three objectives: The first objective was to determine, as a pilot activity, whether leading terminology and classification systems provided content coverage to support clinical decision-making and quality of care oversight in nursing homes as recommended by clinical experts and as reflected in the literature for three domains: pressure ulcers, chronic pain, and urinary incontinence. The second objective was to examine the content of the federally required nursing home minimum data set (MDS) to determine whether it provides the information needed to understand quality of care in nursing homes in the three selected domains. The third objective was to examine the extent to which the content of the MDS was captured by SNOMED CT, ICF, or ICNP.

Specifically, we set out to:

- Identify the concepts, terms, and data elements recommended by domain experts as needed for risk adjusted assessments of pressure ulcers, pain, and urinary incontinence in nursing homes;
- Determine the content coverage needed for these assessments provided by: (i) three terminology coding systems: SNOMED CT, ICF, and ICNP; and (ii) the MDS;
- Determine the extent to which the data elements of MDS are captured by SNOMED CT, ICF and ICNP.

This project was deliberately limited in scope to three clinical conditions in order to provide a focused, "pilot" study that examines the comprehensiveness of leading terminology code sets and the MDS with respect to clinically relevant data and concepts needed to measure quality for those three clinical conditions.

B. Selection of Study Focus Areas

The three conditions on which the study focused were selected because these conditions are frequently used in constructing measures of nursing home quality. However,

quality measures for each of these conditions presents a slightly different documentation challenge that relates to whether the condition is directly observable or not, the type of clinical data required, and the number of persons involved in recording relevant data in the record. The rationale for selecting these three conditions was, in part, based on the following:

Pressure Ulcers and Pressure Ulcer Risk

Pressure ulcers are areas of tissue damage or necrosis that develop due to pressure over a bony prominence; the reported incidence rate for pressure ulcers in long term care facilities varies from 0% to 31%.³¹ Severe pressure sores are a major source of morbidity and mortality in nursing home residents (including pain, infection, disfigurement, and interference with activities of daily living).¹⁸ The estimated costs of treating a pressure ulcer range from \$4000 to \$40,000 for newly developed ulcers. A specific goal of Healthy People 2010 is to reduce the prevalence of pressure ulcers in nursing homes by 50%.³²

Because pressure ulcers are directly observable, the documentation of pressure ulcers is relatively straightforward. Additionally, risk factors for the development of pressure ulcers are well described. Therefore, determination of quality of care based on pressure ulcer data can be related not just to the outcome of pressure ulcer development, but also to processes of care that are known to reduce the risk of pressure ulcer development.

Chronic Pain

Chronic pain is defined in a national clinical practice guideline as "unpleasant sensory or emotional experience that is persistent or recurrent." Estimates of the prevalence of chronic pain in long term care facilities range from 45 to 80%, but these rates are generally considered to be underestimates. In addition to the suffering associated with pain, untreated pain has been associated with increased occurrences of depression, social isolation, sleep disturbances, gait impairment, and increased use of health services. Despite strong evidence that chronic pain can be ameliorated by appropriate use of medications, undiagnosed and untreated pain has been a widespread problem in nursing homes.

In part because of the highly subjective nature of chronic pain, assessment and subsequently documentation of an individual's pain can be challenging. While self-report of pain is a "gold standard," persons who are unable to provide an accurate self-report because of conditions such as cognitive or communication limitations are dependent on staff's accurate interpretation of the non-verbal indicators of chronic pain (e.g., facial expressions such as grimacing and frowning, vocalizations such as yelling, groaning, moaning, or behaviors such as bracing, rubbing, and guarding). 18,34 Documentation of

nonspecific signs and symptoms that may suggest the presence of chronic pain is necessary.

Urinary Incontinence

Urinary incontinence is defined as the involuntary loss of urine significant enough to be considered a problem.³⁵ Estimates are that 50% or more of persons in long-term care facilities are affected by incontinence, reflecting the role of incontinence as a cause of institutionalization. Incontinence is associated with skin breakdown, activity limitation, social isolation, and depression.³⁶ Because incontinence can be reversed or improved for up to half of nursing home residents, a high prevalence of incontinence suggests poor care.¹⁸

Because of the types of evaluations required in determining the cause of incontinence, relevant documentation is typically found in many different sections of clinical records (e.g., history and physical, nursing notes, laboratory reports), and those data are typically recorded by persons in a variety of health care disciplines.

C. Identification of Terms

Our primary goal was to examine the content coverage provided by select terminologies and the MDS for measuring quality of nursing home care with respect to the three selected conditions identified above. The study used the following methods to generate a list of relevant terms that served as the test set for examining the content coverage provided by three different coding systems.

ACOVE Indicators

First, the project team retrieved quality indicator data from recently published synthesis conferences on quality indicators for each of the selected conditions. A Task Force on Aging with members from the American College of Physicians and the American Society of Internal Medicine recently published a set of manuscripts concerning the assessment of quality of care for older persons, a project entitled "Assessing Care of Vulnerable Elders" (ACOVE). Among the goals of the project was to develop a set of evidence-based, quality of care indicators relevant to vulnerable older persons, and to design a chart abstraction tool, interview instruments, and data analytic methods to implement a quality-of-care indicator system. Three of the manuscripts specifically addressed quality indicators for the domains of pain management, pressure ulcers, and urinary incontinence. Efforts that summarize the essential literature in specific areas, like the ACOVE initiative, are important for terminology work because they represent consensus among experts in the field on the key terms and concepts relevant to the knowledge base required for specific domains.

Although the ACOVE project focused on the identification of high-risk, community dwelling older persons, we chose to include the data elements put forward in these manuscripts for several reasons. First and most important for our purposes, there was a deliberate effort to develop the quality indicators considering information typically available in the medical record and administrative data. Second, each focused area included aspects of prevention, diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Finally, the indicators were specifically developed for use in assessing the processes of care delivered to vulnerable older persons. See Appendix A for a listing of the ACOVE indicators for each of the three clinical conditions included in this study.

Domain Experts

Second, the project team identified one content expert for each domain based on their authorship of key citations retrieved from the literature review. The experts were asked to provide a listing of key literature related to their area of expertise, and of key clinical data they believed essential to making judgments of quality of care related to their specific area. This was felt to be necessary because literature synthesis by definition requires that content be summarized; and rarely includes a full complement of terms that are potentially relevant to any given focus area. In particular, we were interested in the types of clinical documentation terms that these reviewers identified.

Pressure Ulcers and Pressure Ulcer Risk: Nancy Bergstrom, Ph.D., RN, FAAN, is the Associate Director of Aging Research the Center on Aging at the University of Texas Health Sciences Center. Dr. Bergstrom was the chair of the AHCPR panel that developed the clinical practice guidelines for the prediction and prevention of pressure ulcers in adults. She has published numerous journal articles related to the assessment and treatment of pressure sore risk for nursing home residents and was the Principal Investigator for the 1988-1994 NIH study "Nursing Assessment of Pressure Sore Risk."

Chronic Pain: Keela Herr, Ph.D., R.N. is Professor and Area Chair: Adult and Gerontology Nursing at the University of Iowa. The primary focus of her work and expertise is in the area of pain assessment in older adults. She has conducted NIH funded research to establish appropriate tools for evaluating pain intensity among the elderly population. She is currently working on the AHRQ sponsored research project, "Evidence-based Practice: From Book to Bedside: Acute Pain Management in the Elderly" that is examining interventions to improve adoption of clinical practice guidelines in health care organizations.

Urinary Incontinence: John F. Schnelle, Ph.D. is the Director of the Boren Center for Gerontologic Research at the UCLA/Jewish Home for the Aging. He has been the principal investigator on nine NIH clinical trial intervention grants designed to improve care and management in nursing homes. Dr. Schnelle has published numerous journal articles related to the assessment and treatment of urinary incontinence among nursing home

residents and was part of the AHCPR panel that developed the clinical practice guidelines for urinary incontinence. He is the author of the 1991 book "Managing Urinary Incontinence in the Elderly."

The domain experts were asked, based on their expertise, to:

- Identify and refine the key terms and concepts needed to understand quality in their domain (i.e. data elements).
- Specify the quality inferences (and the data source(s)) that could be supported if all relevant data were available.
- Identify the data elements (and corresponding data source(s)) needed to risk adjust these estimates of quality.
- Provide a list of references related to their domain area.

Appendix B includes a list of the terms provided by each of the domain experts, and Appendix G a list of key literature citations provided by the domain experts.

Quality Indicators and Quality Measures

Third, a list of the MDS data elements associated with the quality indicators and quality measures was compiled. Quality <u>indicators</u> derived from MDS data were described earlier in this paper. The pressure ulcer quality indicator is "Prevalence of stage 1-4 pressure ulcers" and is derived from the single MDS data element "pressure ulcer -- any lesion caused by pressure resulting in damage of underlying tissue." Two quality indicators are relevant to incontinence: "Prevalence of bladder or bowel incontinence" and "Prevalence of occasional or frequent bladder or bowel incontinence with or without a toileting plan." The respective MDS data element is "Control of urinary bladder function or continence programs, if employed." This data element is then coded according to whether the individual is usually continent, occasionally incontinent, frequently incontinent, or incontinent all of the time. Appendix C includes examples of data from the MDS used to derive quality indicators related to pressure ulcers and incontinence. There is not a quality indicator for chronic pain.

The nursing home quality <u>measures</u> are derived from MDS data elements, as are the quality indicators. The quality measures of interest in this study are related to residents with pressure sores and pain. For the measure of prevalence of stage 1-4 pressure ulcers, the MDS data element is the same pressure ulcer data element listed above, with a risk adjustment factor based on the data elements "impaired transfer or bed mobility" or "comatose" or "malnutrition" or "end stage disease." For the measure of inadequate pain management, the MDS data elements include "residents with moderate pain at least daily"

or "horrible/excruciating pain at any frequency." This measure is covaried by the MDS data elements "independence in decision making." Appendix D includes examples of data from the MDS used to derive quality measures related to pressure ulcers and pain.

Terms Abstracted From the MDS

We also examined the content coverage provided by the three coding systems (i.e., SNOMED CT, ICF, and ICNP) for the entire MDS. This was necessary given the emphasis of the domain experts and ACOVE indicators on the identification of a range of factors beyond the occurrence of the pain, pressure ulcers, and urinary incontinence (e.g., risk factors, nonspecific signs and symptoms, and processes of care). That is, the MDS data elements used for QI and QM estimates are a subset of the entire MDS and only concern the presence of these conditions. Since the ACOVE indicators and the domain experts recommend considering factors beyond just the presence of the condition as an indicator of quality, we needed to examine the extent to which: (i) each of the three terminology coding systems provided content coverage of the entire MDS; and (ii) the entire MDS provided content coverage relevant to the ACOVE indicators and domain expert indicators.

This required that we carefully consider the way the structure of the MDS document because interpreting the meaning of specific data elements is tightly coupled to the hierarchy, or headings under which that item occurs in the document.

The MDS is organized into 18 sections, with a varying number of items in each section that specify a focused type of assessment.

- N Section A: Identification Information, Demographic Information, Customary Routine, and Face Sheet Signatures
- N Section B: Cognitive Patterns
- N Section C: Communication/Hearing Patterns
- N Section D: Vision Patterns
- N Section E: Mood and Behavior Patterns
- N Section F: Psychosocial Well-being
- N Section G: Physical Functioning and Structural Problems
- N Section H: Incontinence in Last 14 Days
- N Section I: Disease Diagnoses
- N Section J: Health Conditions
- N Section K: Oral/Nutritional Status
- N Section L: Oral/Dental Status
- N Section M: Skin Condition
- N Section N: Activity Pursuit Patterns
- N Section O: Medications
- N Section P: Special Treatments and Procedures

- N Section Q: Discharge Potential and Overall Status
- N Section R: Assessment Information

The MDS data elements that are actually encoded and stored are selected from picklists of responses to a number of items or questions within each of these sections. Many sections of the MDS are further subdivided with sub-headings that organize specific items.

For example, Section G: Physical Functioning and Structural Problems specifies a sub-heading of "bed mobility" which is defined as "how resident moves to and from lying position, turns side to side, and positions body when in bed". The person completing the MDS form then records a value of 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, or 8 to describe the resident's overall self-performance of bed mobility and a value of 0, 1, 2, 3, or 8 to indicate the support provided the resident in bed mobility. To completely express the meaning of the concepts, it is necessary to consider the text that explains the numeric coded value in association with the item, the sub-heading, and the section heading.

Another example is the concept of "weight change". The term "weight change" is a sub-heading with the section of "oral/nutritional status". A response of No or Yes is required for two separate items within this sub-heading. One item is "weight loss -- 5% or more in last 30 days or 10% or more in last 180 days" and the other item is "weight gain --5% or more in the last 30 days or 10% or more in the last 180 days". In another section of the MDS, "health conditions", there is a sub-heading of "problem conditions", and a list of four items that are "indicators of fluid status". One of those items is "weight gain or loss of 3 or more pounds within a 7 day period". The person completing the form is instructed to check the associated data field if this applies. In the first example, the meaning of the MDS weight change item is related to nutritional status, while in the second example the meaning is related to conditions associated with fluid balance concerns, such as congestive heart failure. The point is that the terms that define the structure of the document contribute to the meaning or semantics of the data elements. These must be made explicit in computer based applications that process the meaning of coded data elements. The coded data elements of Yes or No do not carry any meaning related to the intent of the items with which they are associated.

The overall point to be made is that in order to complete a study of the extent to which various terminology systems provide content coverage for the MDS, it was necessary to include all of the terms in items, sub-headings, and sections that provide the context and meaning of a given data elements. Given that an intent of the study was to determine the content coverage of concepts within the MDS, all terms used within the MDS to label section headings, focused areas of assessment, and data elements were included. Duplicates were removed (e.g., "independent" was only included once). This resulted in a sample of 639 unique terms from the MDS. See Appendix F for a complete listing of these terms.

D. Terminology and Classification Coding Systems

One terminology coding system and two classification systems were included in this study: SNOMED CT (a large, comprehensive terminology system), and ICF and ICNP (small, domain specific classification systems). The systems were previously described, and only summary information is provided below. Investigators obtained electronic copies of each coding system from the developers, as well as permissions to use the coding systems in this project. See Appendix E for contact information for each coding system.

E. Coding Procedures

Terms from the ACOVE indicators, the domain experts, and the MDS data elements were entered into a spreadsheet, one element per row. As described above, each phrase within the MDS was considered a discrete data element for the purpose of the content coverage study, whether the phrase existed as a section header, item, or response option. Terms were then classified as administrative information, resident history, assessments, treatments, or other (terms referring to provider information, quantities (e.g., 1 to 500 cc/day) and miscellaneous activities) in order to facilitate analysis.

The terminology coding systems were imported into a database within the Mayo terminology services. This set of services is a compendium of tools that facilitate terminology indexing. There are two main divisions within the set of tools, corresponding to the server side and the client side. On the server side, there is a suite of terminology services that contain the core mechanisms for serving up and storing coded content. On the client side, there are graphical building blocks for searching and navigating the hierarchy of underlying terminologies, and for building complex coded expression if supported by the terminology system. Included within the Mayo terminology server is a basic spell checking service, a lexical variant generator (LVG), a synonym scheme, and a coding scheme service. Originally developed to support SNOMED RT, this suite of tools can be modified to accommodate other terminology coding systems.

A trained and experienced coder exhaustively searched for the best available concept or set of concepts that captured the clinical notions expressed by the target phrase from the ACOVE indicators, domain experts, and MDS. If no reasonable match was suggested by the coding tool, she further searched for matching terms from the terminology coding systems using common word processing techniques such as "find" functions. Results are presented in the next section of this paper.

IV. RESULTS

This section presents the results of the content coverage study. First, we compare the terms identified by the ACOVE documents, domain experts, and the MDS QI and QM metrics related to quality assessments of chronic pain, pressure ulcers, and urinary incontinence. Then, we summarize the content coverage provided by these terminology systems for the MDS overall.

A. Comparison of Terms: ACOVE Indicators, Domain Experts, and QIs/QMs

Table 1, Table 2, and Table 3 compare the terms we abstracted from three sources: the ACOVE indicators, the domain experts, and the MDS quality indicators and quality measures. To facilitate comparisons and analyses, we grouped data elements into the broad categories of targeted history and physical, treatments for condition, and assessments. It is important to remember that we asked the domain experts to suggest data elements that would be required to assess quality of care; therefore most of the terms from the domain experts reflect assessments. The relative lack of detail of terms related to treatments should not be interpreted as indicating the expert would not or could not recommend treatments. Our request to the domain experts emphasized a request for data elements that are associated with assessment indicators for each of the specific conditions.

It is striking to note that across these three tables, the number of terms dramatically diminishes as one moves from the domain experts and ACOVE indicators to the MDS data elements. This reflects the limited scope of the MDS, and subsequently the limited data available for making decisions related to the quality of care. The terms provided by the ACOVE indicators and the domain experts reflect the far more extensive data typically recorded (and available) in clinical records.

The difference in the number of terms also reflects an emphasis by the ACOVE documents and the domain experts that quality judgments must be associated with clinical decision-making, in contrast to summary measures of quality that are reflected in incidence and/or prevalence rates that emphasize counting events. The ACOVE groups and the domain experts emphasized that it is the failure to identify persons who might benefit from related processes of care and to then provide that care that is one of the most significant indicators of poor quality. The MDS quality indicators and measures emphasize the incidence and prevalence of events, i.e., the occurrence of pressure ulcers, pain, and incontinence -- not the timely detection and early intervention to prevent those events from occurring.

Given the limited coverage provided by the MDS quality indicators and quality measures for the targeted domains, we felt it was important to also examine the content coverage of the entire MDS in relation to the ACOVE indicators and domain expert terms in order to determine whether the indicators recommended by the ACOVE manuscripts and the domain experts could be derived from MDS data elements. This review is provided below in the section entitled, "Content Coverage for Domain Expert Terms." Unfortunately, even when examining the entire content of the MDS, the MDS does not provide much of the data content recommended by the ACOVE documents or the domain experts.

B. Content Coverage for Terms Provided by Domain Experts

After generating the lists of terms from the domain experts, we proceeded to code those terms using procedures described earlier. Table 4 compares the content coverage of the MDS and the three coding systems (SNOMED CT, ICF, ICNP) for the terms identified by the domain experts. As expected, SNOMED CT provided the most complete content coverage, consistent with the far more extensive compilation of terms within that terminology coding system. For the domains of chronic pain and urinary incontinence, SNOMED CT provided coverage for all the terms suggested by domain experts and a complete match was possible for the overwhelming majority of terms. For the domain of pressure ulcers, SNOMED CT provided a complete match with 80% coverage observed. The types of terms for which no SNOMED CT code could be identified included abbreviations (e.g., MR/DD, ADL, and a variety of qualifiers such as none of the above). The ICF and ICNP each provided either complete or partial content coverage for approximately half of the domain expert terms related to pressure ulcers and urinary incontinence, but only a small percentage of content coverage for the terms related to chronic pain.

Coverage provided by the MDS varied significantly across domains. The MDS provided a complete match on 70 percent of the pressure ulcer terms, but provided a complete match on only 8 percent of the terms recommended by the domain experts to assess of quality of care relate to pain and urinary incontinence. This is not an unexpected result, and is probably explained in part by the nature of three conditions selected for this review. As noted earlier, pressure ulcers are directly observable and were widely recognized as an issue of concern when the MDS was originally developed. Chronic pain is not directly observable and the presence of chronic pain is either directly reported by the person experiencing the pain or inferred by persons providing care to the person experiencing the pain. In the latter case, a correct inference requires that the provider observe for a wide variety of non-specific behaviors and then correctly interpret those behaviors as pain behaviors. This is the sort of information that should be recorded in clinical documentation systems (whether paper or electronic). Similarly for urinary incontinence, the results of diagnostic and evaluation tests such as laboratory work and

procedure results are typically recorded in clinical documentation systems. The MDS was not developed as a clinical documentation system.

Appendix G includes detailed lists of terms provided by the domain experts that do not have a complete "match" in either MDS or SNOMED CT (i.e., the "partial match" or "no match" columns of Table 4). It will be difficult to achieve the goal of "interoperable" or reusable data across applications without these terms.

For example, if a person has an existing pressure ulcer and is at known risk for the development of additional pressure ulcers, practice guidelines recommend that a skin inspection be completed at least once a day with particular attention to bony prominences and that either static or dynamic support surfaces be used depending on the person's ability to assume a variety of positions without weight bearing. Terms related to the concept of "bony prominences" were not found in either the MDS or SNOMED CT. The MDS includes two items related to pressure relieving devices; one is "pressure relieving devices for chair" and the other, "pressure relieving devices for bed". However our domain expert mentioned five more specific terms related to pressure relieving devices: airfluidized beds, characteristics of support surfaces, dynamic support surface, low air-loss bed, and static support surface. SNOMED CT does provide terms related to these more specific concepts. The MDS use of the concept appears to be related to whether a pressure relieving device was used in a chair or a bed. More detailed information is needed in order to use the concept in an automated clinical decision support system (i.e., the type of pressure relieving device would need to be made explicit). Persons actually completing point of care clinical documentation would likely provide information at the more detailed level. A reporting interest in whether that device was used for a chair or bed could then be algorithmically derived from the more specific information within an electronic clinical documentation system.

Another example illustrating the need for terminology completeness relates to the names of specific clinical assessment scales. SNOMED CT includes names of many scales used in health care. For example, the McGill Pain Questionnaire and the FACES pain scale are terms within SNOMED CT, however neither the Braden Scale nor the Norton Scale were included in SNOMED CT at the time of this review, nor is pressure ulcer risk quantified in the MDS. Automated clinical alerts when critical values of the Braden Scale or Norton Scale are observed would likely result in the earlier deployment of preventive interventions (such as pressure relieving devices) and therefore a reduction in the incidence of new pressure ulcers. This means that the concept of a Braden Scale score or a Norton Scale score must be available within a given system. The developers of SNOMED CT have a defined procedure for updating the content of this terminology. Researchers at Mayo will submit the terms that were found to not have a complete match in SNOMED CT to the developers of SNOMED for their consideration as terms that should be added to SNOMED.

In the present analysis we included only the specific name of the clinical assessment scale recommended by the domain expert. We did not retrieve specific content within any given scale and further determine the content coverage of that scale. Readers should not

automatically assume that because the name of the scale is missing that the content of scale is missing. Researchers at Mayo Clinic are working to apply natural language processing techniques to discover "kernel concepts" in such clinical scales, and will focus future content coverage studies on identifying the terms that may be lacking in clinical terminology systems.

C. Content Coverage Provided for Terms Within the Minimum Data Set

Table 5 compares the content coverage of SNOMED CT, ICF, and ICNP for all terms within the MDS. Again, as expected SNOMED CT provided the most complete coverage of the three coding systems reviewed in this study.

A few comparisons are of particular interest. First ICNP provided relatively complete coverage of interventions compared to ICF. This is very consistent with the focus of the ICF on providing a profile of functioning and disability, while the emphasis of the ICNP is on interventions provided by nurses as well as patient assessments. Similarly, the content coverage of administrative terms is more extensive in the ICNP than in the ICF.

TABLE 1. A Comparison of Recommended Data Elements to Infer Quality of Care for Persons with Pressure Ulcers/At Risk for Pressure Ulcers

		ers/At Risk for Pressure Ulcers	
	Pressure Ulcers: ACOVE	Pressure Ulcers: Domain Expert	Pressure Ulsers: MDS Quality Measure
Targeted history and physical	Risk assessment	Risk for decreased tissue perfusion: Tobacco use and CABG procedure Radiation treatment History of ulcers History of hospital stays Surgical treatments: Surgical flap At risk for developing pressure ulcers High risk for pressure ulcers Risk assessment tools Braden scale Norton scale Skin inspection	
Treatment for condition	Preventive interventions Nutritional interventions Management Debridement Cleansing Topical dressing Management If at risk, then repositioning and pressure reduction for tissue loads If at risk and malnourished, then nutritional intervention If ≥ stage 2, no topical antiseptic If full thickness sacral or trochenteric with necrotic debris or eschar, then debride If clean full-thickness or partial-thickness, then topical dressing If s/s of infection with no other cause, then debride within 12 hours, tissue biopsy or needle aspiration for culture and sensitivity within 12 hours	Ulcer care plan Application of dressings Clean dry dressings Dressings that keep ulcer bed continuously moist Protective dressings Cleanse wound Mild cleansing agent Whirlpool treatment Wet to dry dressings Debridement Topical debriding agents Autolytic debridement Enzymatic debridement Wound irrigation Foam Gel Growth factors Hormones Hyperbaric oxygen Infrared ultraviolet Hydrotherapy Normal saline Topical agents Topical aminoglycoside treatment Topical antibiotics Topical treatment with iodine containing agents Avoid massage over bony prominences Moisturizers Luricants (corn starch and cream) Electrical stimulation therapy Low energy laser irradiation Assisted oral feeding Oral supplements Devices that totally relieve pressure Distribution of weight Proper postural alignment Characteristics of support surfaces	

Pressure Ulcers:	Pressure Ulcers:	Pressure Ulsers:
ACOVE	Domain Expert	MDS Quality Measure
	Dynamic support surface Low air loss bed Pressure relief Pressure reducing beds Pressure reducing mattresses Pressure reducing overlays Maintain position in bed or chair Nutritional management Aggressive nutritional interventions Air fluidized beds Plan of nutritional support Patient education Repositioning schedule Surgical flap Postoperative viability of the surgical site Evaluate adequacy of treatment	

	Pressure Ulcers: ACOVE	Pressure Ulcers: Domain Expert	Pressure Ulsers: MDS Quality Measure
Assessments	Risk assessment Evaluation If unable to reposition self, then risk assessment for pressure ulcers If pressure ulcer, assess for location, depth, stage, size, presence of necrotic tissue If partial thickness pressure ulcer and no improvement after 2 weeks then assess appropriateness of tx plan	Age, gender Cognition: Comatose, Cognitive skill, Distracted, Awareness, Restlessness, Lethargy, Mental function, Altered level of consciousness, Depression score, Mental status Speech, Verbal responses Ability to move: Bed mobility, Bed bound, Chair bound, Transfer ability, Walking ability, Locomotion, Dressing ability, Motion of: neck, arm, hand, leg, foot; ADL function, Activities of daily living, Restraint use, Body control, Mobility device, Difficulty with repositioning, Impaired ability to reposition, Immobility, Spinal cord injury, Physical status Nutrition: Eating ability, Nutritional intake, Oral/nutritional status, Oral problems, Oral nutritional supplements, Enteral feeding, Modular products, Vitamin/mineral supplements, Weight loss, BMI, Poor meal intake, Dietary intake, Albumin, Nitrogen balance, Nutritional status, Dietary intake of protein, Dietary intake of calories, Malnutrition, Nutrition screening, Nutritional assessment Risk for moisture exposure: Toilet use, personal hygiene, bathing, bowel incontinence, bladder incontinence, Toilet use, Briefs, Protective padding, Underpads, Skin hydration Recurrence of pressure ulcer Location of pressure ulcer Location of pressure ulcer Ulcer healing Friction injuries Bed linen to move Lifting devices Minimize force and friction Positioning devices Transferring support Turning techniques Risk for delayed healing Bony prominences Infections	Pressure ulcer Risk adjustment: Impaired transfer or bed mobility OR Risk adjustment: Comatose Malnutrition End stage disease

TABL	TABLE 2. A Comparison of Recommended Data Elements to Infer Quality of Care for Persons with Chronic Pain				
	Chronic Pain Management: ACOVE	Chronic Pain: Domain Expert	Chronic Pain: MDS Quality Measure		
Targeted history and physical	If newly reported chronic pain condition then history and physical within 1 month If treated with NSAIDs, check history to peptic ulcer disease If history of peptic ulcer disease, justify NSAID use If treatment with opioids, then bowel regimen/treatment	Presence of diagnoses known to be painful: osteoarthritis, low back pain, fibromyalgia, spinal stenosis, post-herpetic neuralgia, peripheral neuropathy, myofascial pain syndromes, vasogenic claudication, phantom lim pain, headaches, vasculitic pain syndromes, osteoporosis with fractures, cancer, contractures, peripheral vascular disease, rheumatoid arthritis When starts, what started it, what makes it better, what makes it			
Treatment for condition	If newly reported chronic pain condition then offer treatment Acetominophen for OA NSAIDs for OA Opioids Avoid meperidine	Pain intensity monitoring Appropriate use of medications Appropriate use of non- pharmacologic interventions Acetominophen for OA NSAIDs for OA Opioids Avoid meperidine			

	Chronic Pain Management:	Chronic Pain:	Chronic Pain:
	ACOVE	Domain Expert	MDS Quality Measure
Assessments	If treated, then assess for response within 6 months Depression Palliative care Side effects of new medications Education concerning medication side effects Osteoarthritis	Dementia Delirium Pain Scales: Numeric estimate (0- 100); Verbal descriptors: no pain, moderate, severe, excruciating, worst pain possible, most intense pain imaginable; Faces pain scale; Pain map; McGill pain questionnaire Pain Behaviors: Facial (wrinkled forehead, tightly closed eyes, grimacing, frowning); Nonverbal behavior (bracing, rubbing, guarding); Vocalizations (crying, yelling, groaning, moaning) Nonverbal indicators of discomfort: Aggressive, crying, fearful, negative vocalization, noisy respirations, pacing, repetitive, restlessness, rocking, confusion irritability, increased activity, withdrawal, tense, calling out, grunting, knees pulled up; Other changes in usual activities or behavior patterns/routines Impact of pain on quality of life outcomes Physical function, sleep, appetite, interpersonal relationships/ interactions with others, mood (anxiety, depression), mental status (ability to think clearly/ concentration/confusion), energy/ fatigue	Moderate pain at least daily Horrible/excruciating pain at any frequency Independence in decision making

TABL	TABLE 3. A Comparison of Recommended Data Elements to Infer Quality of Care for Persons with Urinary Incontinence					
	Urinary Incontinence: ACOVE	Urinary Incontinence: Domain Expert	Urinary Incontinence: MDS Quality Measure			
Targeted history and physical	If new or persists ≥1 month, then targeted hx: Voiding characteristics; Ability to get to toilet; Previous tx for incontinence; Importance of problem to pt.; Mental status If new or persists ≥1 month, then target physical: Rectal exam; Genital system exam If new or persists ≥1 month, then dipstick ua and post-void residual If newly discovered overflow incontinence and indwelling catheter used, documentation, that not candidate for other interventions as result of physical or mental impairments or tx preference	Characteristics of voiding and non- invasive bladder diagnosis Ability to toilet Prior treatment for incontinence Importance of problem to patient Mental status exam Rectal exam to exclude fecal impaction Skin exam to evaluate skin problems associated with urinary incontinence Genital system exam to identify physical abnormalities that may explain incontinence (e.g., pelvic prolapse)				
Treatment for condition	If cognitively intact without hematuria or high post void residual, then behavioral therapy If surgery or periuretheral injections, then cystometry before procedure If female with stress incontinence caused by sphincter deficiency, then surgery is sling or artificial sphincter procedure Behavioral therapies	Prompted toileting Prompted voiding Scheduled toileting Timed voiding				
Assessments		MDS recal scale, MDS item B3, or Cognitive performance scale derived from MDS items Frequency of incontinence Status of incontinence: day and night Symptoms on urination Symptoms to distinguish between urge incontinence (short interval between sensation to void and bladder contraction) and stress incontinence (urine loss during physical movements) Mobility problems on MDS and provider notes Toileting responsiveness assessments: How often person voids when prompted on a routine basis Voiding record Non-invasive diagnoses of bladder function Urodynamic analyses of bladder functioning (for select diagnoses) Lab reports Primary care notes	Control of urinary bladder function or continence programs, if employed Risk adjustment: Severe cognitive impairment Totally ADL dependent in mobility Total dependence in ADL self-performance			

TABLE 4. Content Coverage Provided by Selected Coding Systems for Terms Related to Three Domains of Quality: Chronic Pain, Pressure Ulcers, and Urinary Incontinence

Terms Provided by Domain Experts	MDS Coverage of Terms		SNOMED CT Coverage of Terms		ICF Coverage of Terms		ICNP Coverage of Terms					
	Complet e Match ¹	Partial Match ²	No Match	Complete Match ¹	Partial Match ²	No Match	Complete Match ¹	Partial Match ²	No Match	Complete Match ¹	Partial Match ²	No Match
PRESSURE ULCERS (n=179 terms)	70%	_	30%	77%	10%	13%	18%	37%	47%	16%	24%	60%
Administrative Information (n=5 terms)	100%	_	_	100%	_	_	_	20%	_	_	_	100%
Resident History (n=10 terms)	80%	_	20%	80%	_	20%	_	10%	90%	20%	40%	40%
Assessments (n=82 terms)	75%	_	25%	85%	13%	2%	12%	50%	38%	21%	28%	50%
Treatments (n=82 terms)	50%	21%	29%	90%	10%	_	_	_	_	25%	40%	35%
CHRONIC PAIN (n=79 terms)	8%	8%	84%	92%	8%	_	4%	9%	87%	3%	5%	96%
Administrative Information												
Resident History (n=19 terms)	26%	16%	58%	94%	5%	_	_	26%	73%	5%	10%	84%
Assessments (n=53 terms)	9%	13%	77%	84%	16%	_	6%	17%	77%	2%	2%	96%
Treatments (n=7 terms)	_	1	100%	100%	_	_	_	_	100%	15%	_	85%
URINARY INCONTINENCE (n=28 terms)	8%	8%	84%	95%	5%	_	4%	50%	46%	4%	46%	50%
Administrative Information (n=5 terms)												
Resident History (n=2 terms)	_	_	100%	100%	_	_	_	50%	50%	_	50%	50%
Assessments (n=20 terms)	15%	15%	70%	85%	15%	_	5%	50%	45%	5%	50%	45%
Treatments (n=6 terms)	_	15%	85%	100%	_	_	_	50%	50%	_	_	100%

^{1.} Complete match indicates a lexical match and/or synonyms (e.g. "ability to toilet" and "ability to use toilet")

^{2.} Partial match includes either of the following

S terms with a broader or narrower conceptual meaning (e.g., the ICF code of "Weight maintenance function" has a broader conceptual meaning than the domain expert term of "weight loss")

S coverage of some but not all concepts in the target term (e.g., the ICNP code of "nursing home" provides partial coverage of the MDS term "prior stay at this nursing home")

TABLE 5. Content Coverage Provided by Selected Coding Systems for All Terms Within the Minimum Data Set (MDS)

		` '					
Terms Within the MDS		SNOMED CT Coverage of Terms		F of Terms	ICNP Coverage of Terms		
	Complete Match ¹	Partial Match ²	Complete Match ¹	Partial Match ²	Compete Match ¹	Partial Match ²	
(n=628 terms)	46%	45%	2%	39%	12%	50%	
Administrative Information (n=87)	20%	71%	_	8%	1%	38%	
Resident History (n=143)	89%	7%	_	40%	1%	53%	
Assessments (n=262)	29%	66%	4%	58%	20%	53%	
Treatments (n=93)	63%	33%	_	31%	20%	57%	
Other ³ (n=43)	40%	37%	_	7%	2%	38%	

- 1. Complete match indicates a lexical match and/or synonyms (e.g. "ability to toilet" and "ability to use toilet")
- 2. Partial match includes either of the following
 - S terms with a broader or narrower conceptual meaning (e.g., the ICF code of "Weight maintenance function" has a broader conceptual meaning than the domain expert term of "weight loss")
 - S coverage of some but not all concepts in the target term (e.g., the ICNP code of "nursing home" provides partial coverage of the MDS term "prior stay at this nursing home")
- 3. "Other" includes terms such as provider information (e.g., signature), quantities (e.g., 1 to 500 cc/day), and available activities (e.g., cards/other games)

A discussion of these results follows in the next section.

V. DISCUSSION

In this section we first discuss the comparison of data elements on which inferences of quality are based, and the content coverage provided by three different coding systems for those data elements. We then discuss potential implications of this study in relation to continuing initiatives around an information infrastructure of health care.

A. Essential Data Elements for Inferring Quality

The data elements suggested by the domain experts, ACOVE indicators, and MDS quality measure reflect differing perspectives related to the essential data on which to infer quality of care. There is clearly a different emphasis on the type of information needed to understand quality between the clinical experts (both the individual domain experts and the ACOVE panels) and the MDS quality measures. The clinical experts emphasized assessments that identify persons with actual or potential problems, and then link those assessments and judgments to processes of care. A repeating theme in the ACOVE panels is that it is the failure to identify persons who would benefit from specific care processes that is an indicator of quality, not merely the occurrence of the event.

The focus of the MDS quality indicators and quality measures is on the prevalence of the three conditions, reflecting in part the nature of data within the MDS but also perhaps a public demand for prevalence and outcomes data. However, as experts in the measurement of quality emphasize, such data are extremely difficult to interpret accurately, particularly in the absence of information needed to adequately risk adjust and the absence of information about the processes of care associated with those outcomes. This suggests that the MDS quality measures may not be the most relevant indicators of quality for inferring quality.

The construction of quality indicators and quality measures from MDS data elements is constrained by the availability of data within the MDS; the availability of data within the MDS is constrained by the limited clinical content within the MDS. The difference in the extent to which the MDS provided acceptable pressure ulcer data compared to chronic pain and urinary incontinence data suggests that the MDS be examined carefully for the completeness with which quality inferences can be made. A highly coordinated and structured NHII would enable reporting data for quality oversight functions to be derived from a patient medical record information system. In addition, and perhaps more important to improving quality in long-term care facilities, automated decision support systems could be built within that patient medical record information (PMRI) system thereby providing alerts and reminders at the point-of-care.

B. Content Coverage Provided by Terminology Coding Systems

The results in the previous section clearly indicate that a large, comprehensive terminology coding system (SNOMED CT) provided a more complete coverage of desired terms than either of the two focused coding systems (ICF and ICNP). However there are important caveats to this statement. First, the ICF and ICNP are both classification systems, not formal terminologies. The coded terms within both systems reflect a high-level grouping of data, not an exhaustive list of all possible terms that could be classified into specific groups. Of note, both the ICF and ICNP were developed with intent to expand their content over time. Second, both the ICF and the ICNP classification systems provide textual definitions of each coded term. If the definitions within the ICF and ICNP were formally expressed and coded, a more extensive content coverage would have been evident. SNOMED CT does not provide textual definitions of terms. The meaning of terms must be inferred based on the placement of the term within the SNOMED CT hierarchies. This presents an obvious source of potential error in any content coverage study.

As yet, there is no recommendation from the NCVHS on the use of single, comprehensive health care terminology such as SNOMED CT or on an alternative federated approach with many different systems providing terms. Should the NCVHS recommend a single comprehensive reference terminology (for example, SNOMED CT), classification systems such as the ICF and ICNP could be rolled into such a terminology system in ways that retain the intent and focus of those classification systems. This will require significant development work for both the ICF and the ICNP in order to formally express their structure in a manner that is compatible with the reference terminology system. Alternatively, should the NCVHS recommend a federated approach whereby multiple large and small scale systems are used, similar development work will be required in order to integrate and assure interoperability of various coding systems within and across electronic health information systems.

C. Implications Related to Patient Medical Record Information System Developments

A standards-based information infrastructure is needed for long-term care PMRI systems, just as such an infrastructure is needed in other areas of health care. In particular, the presence of a uniform data system for expressing terminological data would enable quality reporting as a "by-product" of care. More importantly, such a terminology system is critical in order to build automated alerts and decision support systems that would enable enhancements to the care provided. The convergence of "best practices" with information systems requires a highly coordinated approach between terminology

systems, documentation systems, and the standards of care suggested in the literature such as the ACOVE indicators that point to best practices. Electronic point of service documentation using a terminology system that is recognized by the all of the software applications that interface with that documentation would enable, for example, prompts to be issued as reminders to care providers around practice guidelines such as those published by ACOVE. Further, failure to use standardized terminologies in electronic health information systems will increase costs and slow the adoption of interoperable PMRI systems.

Moving forward towards the NHII model for long-term care requires that standards for encoding clinical data, sending messages, and document architecture be adopted.

Experts in the development of health information systems agree that achieving the vision of the NHII requires Federal and private partnerships around the development, maintenance and dissemination of clinical terminologies. Among the recommendations made by the NCVHS to the Secretary of HHS is federal involvement in the selection of standards for patient medical record information, early adoption of PMRI standards by the Federal government, conformance testing and licensure of clinically specific terminologies, and funding for demonstration projects and research on improved clinical data capture (http://ncvhs.hhs.gov/reptrecs). Long-term care is an area of health care where there would likely be immediate benefits from the development of electronic health information systems.

To facilitate the evolution of the NHII first requires commitment to and adoption of standards by system developers, vendors, and purchasers; reaching consensus on the role of the federal government as a facilitator; continuing standards development, and providing financial resources. Until recently, standards development was seen largely as an industry responsibility because no federal funding has been allocated for this purpose. After standards are fully developed, subsequent efforts will be required that emphasize collaborations and implementations.

Sufficient progress has been achieved in our understanding of functioning characteristics, achievable reporting goals, information systems standards, and formal logics to permit the formation and defense of the vision proposed. However, many gaps exist in our underlying patient record model, standards specifications, and terminology logics. Each of these gaps defines a body of cross-cutting research to close them. Harmonization of this research, to ensure the comparability and interoperability of the patient data elements, would afford obvious efficiencies.

D. Implications for the MDS

A reference terminology such as SNOMED CT is an essential underpinning of the NHII. An evolution from stand-alone reports such as the MDS to reports that are derived from clinical documentation systems requires close attention to terminology and other NHII related standards that will enable the re-use of clinical data across *multiple* applications (e.g., clinical decision support, alerts, quality monitoring, and reimbursement). The development and implementation of electronic patient medical record information systems that adhere to data standards required to achieve the NHII vision is a critical strategy for improving the quality of care in nursing homes.

This means that the development of an electronic clinical record for nursing homes and the derivation of quality monitoring and reporting from those clinical records must evolve in a fashion that is highly coordinated with the standards that will enable the NHII vision. The standards around clinical terminology systems that will allow the NHII vision to become a reality are particularly important to embrace. Failure to do so will only continue and exacerbate provider data collection burden and limit the scope, and, therefore, utility of the NHII for improving the quality of care in nursing homes.

E. Summary

The IOM report on computer based patient records concluded "computerized clinical data [are] a prerequisite for the safe provision of quality care." Similarly, in its report on the quality of long-term care the IOM suggests that the development of computer based record systems is an essential strategy in improving the quality of care. Underlying this is the basic understanding that key documentation systems are not separate and removed from persons providing care. This report has illustrated that: (1) current nursing home reporting requirements do not completely reflect the information needed at the point of care to deliver quality of care or to subsequently monitor nursing home quality; and (2) work is needed to extend clinical terminologies so that they reflect the essential data elements required for delivering quality care.

Point of care clinical data captured in an integrated electronic health information system needs to be seen as a business imperative, both as a means of reducing documentation burden and improving accuracy, and, most importantly, as a means of supporting improvements in the quality of care. Although patient medical record information systems are not yet widely implemented in long-term care facilities, the IOM and others have identified the need for such initiatives as a way to substantially contribute to quality of care enhancements across the healthcare continuum. Development of electronic information systems will be slowed without public policy that supports and encourages the adoption of standards for messages, clinical document architecture, and terminologies.

The technology required to support the NHII vision of a distributed health information system is available, representing dramatic developments in the technical infrastructure of health care systems since the MDS was first developed. We can now support through technology assistance a patient and practice-centered approach that was the goal of the MDS efforts in the first place.

However achieving the vision awaits a concerted and coordinated national effort, including public and private efforts to support the adoption of standardized terminology systems, and research and demonstration efforts needed to extend inter-operable electronic clinical information systems into long-term care. In addition, work will be needed to build federal and state payment and quality monitoring policies using a well-developed terminology system that is a part of the NHII.

REFERENCES

- 1. National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics. *Final Report: NHII-Information for Health: A Strategy for Building the National Health Information Infrastructure.* Internet address: http://ncvhs.hhs.gov. November 15, 2001.
- 2. National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics. (Letter to Secretary Thompson reporting on issues related to the adoption of uniform data standards, Feb 2002). Internet address: http://ncvhs.hhs.gov/020227lt.htm. 2002.
- 3. Hammond, WE, and Cimino, JJ. Standards in medical informatics. In EH Shortliffe, LE Perreault, G Widerhold and LM Fagan, editors. *Medical Informatics: Computer Applications in Health Care and Biomedicine* 2nd ed. New York: Springer. 2001. p.212-256.
- 4. De Keizer, NF, Abu-Hanna, A, and Zwetsloot-Schonk, JHM. Understanding Terminological Systems I: Terminology and Typology. *Methods of Information in Medicine* 39:16-21. 2000.
- 5. SNOMED International. Clue 5, a browser for SNOMED CT. Chicago: SNOMED International. 2002.
- 6. Rector, A. Description Logics. In F Baader, D Calvanese, D McGuinness, D Nardi, P Patel-Schneider, editors. *The Description Logic Handbook*. Port Chester NY: Cambridge University Press. (In press).
- 7. Chute, CG, Cohn, SP, and Campbell, JR. A Framework for Comprehensive Terminology Systems in the United States: Development Guidelines, Criteria for Selection, and Public Policy Implications. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 5(6). 1998.
- 8. Cimino, JJ. Desiderata for Controlled Medical Vocabularies in the Twenty-First Century. *Methods of Information in Medicine* 37:394-403. 1998.
- 9. Rector, AL. Clinical Terminology: Why Is It So Hard? *Methods of Information in Medicine* 38:239-252. 1999.
- Chute, CG. Clinical classification and terminology: Some history and current observations. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. 7:298-303. 2000.

- 11. World Health Organization. *International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2001.
- 12. National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics. *A Report to the Secretary on Classifying and Reporting Functional Status*. Internet address: http://ncvhs.hhs.gov. July 17, 2001.
- 13. International Council of Nurses. *International Classification for Nursing Practice*. Geneva: International Council of Nurses, 2001.
- Medicare Payment Advisory Commission. Prospective Payment for Post-Acute Care: Current Issues and Long-Term Agenda. Internet address: http://www.medpac.gov/publications/congressional_reports/Mar01%20Ch6.pdf. 2001.
- 15. National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics. *A Report to the Secretary on Uniform Standards for Patient Medical Record Information*. Internet address: http://ncvhs.hhs.gov. July 6, 2000.
- 16. Institute of Medicine. *Improving the Quality of Care in Nursing Homes*. Washington DC: National Academy Press. 1986.
- 17. Morris, J, Hawes, C, Fries, BE, Phillips, CD, Mor, V, Katz, S, Murphy, K, Drugovich, ML, and Friedlob, AS. Designing the national Resident Assessment Instrument for nursing homes. *The Gerontologist* 30:293-307. 1990.
- 18. Institute of Medicine. *Improving the Quality of Long Term Care*. Washington: National Academy Press, 2001.
- 19. Manard, B. Nursing Home Quality Indicators: Their Uses and Limitations. AARP: Public Policy Institute. December 2002.
- 20. Thompson, T. *Press Release: HHS Releases Quality Data about Individual Nursing Homes.* Internet address: http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2002pres/20020424.html. 2002.
- 21. National Quality Forum. A Commentary On Quality Measures and Risk Adjustment Methods for Consumer Reporting of Nursing Home Quality, Draft February 27, 2002. Internet address: http://www.qualityforum.org/NHappB.pdf. 2002.

- 22. Morris, JN, Moore, T, Jones, R, Mor, V, Angelelli, J, Berg, K, Hale, C, Morris, S, Murphy, KM, and Rennison, M. *Validation of Long-Term and Post-Acute Care Quality Indicators*. A report prepared for Abt Associates, July 15 2002.
- 23. Hirdes, JP. *Review of Risk Adjustment Methodologies for Long Term Care Quality Indicators*. A report prepared for the National Quality Forum. Author: University of Waterloo, Homewood Research Institute: February 18, 2002.
- 24. General Accounting Office. Nursing Homes--Public Reporting of Quality Indicators Has Merit, But National Implementation Is Premature, GAO-03-187. Internet address: http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d03187.pdf. October 2002.
- 25. CMS response to the GAO Report. Internet address: http://cms.hhs.gov/providers/nursinghomes/nhi/NH20021029More.pdf. October 22, 2002.
- 26. Kane, RA. Long-Term Care and a Good Quality of Life: Bringing Them Closer Together. *The Gerontologist* 41(3). 2001.
- 27. Chomiak, A, Eccord, M, Frederickson, E, Glass, R, Glickman, M, Grigsby, J, Hurd, D, Kowalsky, J, Kramer, A, Lowe, H, McGuire, C, Moore, T, and White, A. Final Report: Development and Testing of a Minimum Data Set Accuracy Verification Protocol, Report Submitted to the Center For Medicare And Medicaid Services, 2001.
- 28. Office of the Inspector General. Nursing Home Resident Assessment--Quality of Care. Internet address: http://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-02-99-00040.pdf. January 2001.
- 29. General Accounting Office. Nursing Home--Federal Efforts to Monitor Resident Assessment Data Should Complement State Activities. GAO-02-279. Internet address: http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d02279.pdf. February 2002.
- 30. Institute of Medicine. Leadership by Example Coordinating Government Roles in Improving Healthcare Quality. Washington: National Academy Press, 2002.
- 31. Treatment of Pressure Ulcers Guideline Panel. *Treatment of Pressure Ulcers Clinical Practice Guideline, No. 15.* Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Health Care Policy and Research; AHCPR Publication no. 95-0652. 1994.
- 32. Bates-Jensen, BM. Quality indicators for prevention and management of pressure ulcers in vulnerable elders. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 135(8) Part 2:744-751. 2001.

- 33. AGS Panel on Chronic Pain in Older Persons. The management of chronic pain in older persons. *American Geriatrics Society. Geriatrics*. 50:1-20. 2002.
- 34. Chodosh, J, Ferrell, B, Shekelle, PG, and Wenger, NS. Quality indicators for pain management in vulnerable elders. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 135(8) Part 2:731-735. 2001.
- 35. Urinary Incontinence of Adults Guideline Panel. *Urinary Incontinence in Adults: Acute and Chronic Management, No. 2* (1996 Update). Rockville, MD: US
 Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Health
 Care Policy and Research; AHCPR Publication no. 96-0682. 1996.
- 36. Schnelle, JF, and Smith, RL. Quality indicators for the management of urinary incontinence in vulnerable community-dwelling elders. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 135(8) Part 2:752-758. 2001.
- 37. Assessing Care of Vulnerable Elders Committee Members. Quality indicators for assessing care of vulnerable elders. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 135(8) Part 2. 2001.
- 38. Institute of Medicine, Committee on Improving the Patient Record. *The Computer-Based Patient Record: An Essential Technology for Health Care*. Revised Edition ed., Washington DC: National Academy Press. 1997.

APPENDIX A. ACOVE Indicators

	Pressure Ulcers
Risk Assessment	IF a vulnerable elder is admitted to an intensive care unit or a medical or surgical unit of a hospital and cannot reposition himself or herself or has limited ability to do so, THEN risk assessment to pressure ulcers should be done on admission.
Preventive Intervention	IF a vulnerable elder is identified as at risk for pressure ulcer development or a pressure ulcer risk assessment score indicates that the person is at risk. THEN a preventive intervention addressing repositioning needs and pressure reduction (or management of tissue loads) must be instituted within 12 hours.
Nutritional Intervention	IF a vulnerable elder is identified as at risk for pressure ulcer development and has malnutrition (involuntary weight loss of >10% over 1 year or low albumin or prealbumin levels,) THEN nutritional intervention or dietary consultation should be instituted.
Evaluation	IF vulnerable elder presents with a pressure ulcer, THEN the pressure ulcer should be assessed for location, depth, and stage, size, and presence of necrotic tissue.
Management	IF a vulnerable elder presents with a clean full-thickness pressure ulcer and has no improvement after 4 weeks of treatment, THEN the appropriateness of the treatment plan and the presence of cellulitis or osteomyelitis should be assessed.
	IF a vulnerable elder presents with a partial-thickness pressure ulcer and has no improvement after 2 weeks of treatment, THEN the appropriateness of the treatment plan should be assessed.
Debridement	IF a vulnerable elder presents with a full-thickness sacral or trochanteric pressure ulcer covered with necrotic debris or eschar, THEN debridement by using sharp, mechanical, enzymatic, or autolytic procedures should be done within 3 days of diagnosis.
Cleaning	IF a vulnerable elder has a stage 2 or greater pressure ulcer, THEN topical antiseptic should not be used on the wound.
Systemic Infection	IF a vulnerable elder with a full-thickness pressure ulcer presents with systemic signs and symptoms of infection, such as elevated temperature, leukocytosis, confusion, and agitation, and these signs and symptoms do not have another identified cause, THEN the ulcer should be debrided of necrotic tissue within 12 hours
	IF a vulnerable elder with a full-thickness pressure ulcer presents with systemic signs and symptoms of infection, such as elevated temperature, leukocytosis confusion, and agitation, and these signs and symptoms do not have another identified cause, THEN a tissue biopsy or needle aspiration sample should be obtained and sent for culture and sensitivity testing within 12 hours.

Topical Dressing	IF vulnerable elder presents with a clean full-thickness or a partial-thickness pressure ulcer, THEN a moist-healing environment should be provided with a topical dressing.				
		Pain Management			
Screening for Pain		ALL vulnerable elders should be screened for chronic pain during initial evaluation period.			
		ALL vulnerable adults should be screened for chronic pain every 2 years.			
Target History and Physica	l Examination	IF a vulnerable adult has a newly reported chronic pain condition, THEN a targeted history and physical examination should be initiated within 1 month.			
Addressing Risks of NSAIDs		IF a vulnerable adult ahs been prescribed a cyclooxygenase nonselective NSAID for the treatment of chronic pain, THEN the medical record should indicate whether he or she has a history of peptic ulcer disease and, if a history is present, justification of the NSAID should be documented.			
Constipation with Opioid Use		IF a vulnerable elder with chronic pain is treated with opioids, THEN he or she should be offered a bowel regimen, or the medical record should document the potential for constipation or explain why bowel treatment is not needed.			
Treating Pain		IF a vulnerable elder has a newly reported chronic painful condition, THEN treatment should be offered.			
Reassessment of Pain Con	ntrol	IF a vulnerable elder is treated for a chronic painful condition, THEN he or she should be assessed for a response within 6 months.			
Related Indicators		Evaluate depression in patients with chronic pain.			
		Palliative care.			
		Educate concerning side effects of new medication.			
		Avoid meperidine.			
		Assess pain and function annually for osteoarthritis.			
		Acetaminophen use for osteoarthritis.			
		NSAID use for osteoarthritis.			

Urinary Incontinence				
Initial Evaluation	ALL vulnerable elders should have documentation of the presence or absence of urinary incontinence during the initial evaluation.			
Annual Evaluation	ALL vulnerable elders should have annual documentation of the presence or absence of urinary incontinence.			
Targeted History	IF a vulnerable elder has a new urinary incontinence that persists for more than 1 month or urinary incontinence at the time of a new evaluation, THEN a targeted history should be obtained that documents each of the following: (1) characteristics of voiding, (2) ability to get to the toilet, (3) previous treatment for urinary incontinence, (4) importance of the problem to the patient, and (5) mental status.			
Targeted Physical Examination	IF a vulnerable elder has new urinary incontinence that persists for more than 1 month or urinary incontinence at the time of a new evaluation, THEN a targeted physical examination should be performed that documents (1) rectal examination (2) a genital system examination (including a pelvic examination for women).			
Diagnostic Tests	IF a vulnerable elder has a new urinary incontinence that persists for more than 1 month or urinary incontinence at the time of a new evaluation, THEN a dipstick urinalysis and post-void residual should be obtained.			
Discussion of Treatment Options	IF a vulnerable elder has a new urinary incontinence or urinary incontinence at the time of a new evaluation, THEN treatment options should be discussed.			
Behaviorial Therapy	IF a cognitively intact vulnerable elder who is capable independent toileting has documented stress, urge, or mixed incontinence without evidence of hematuria or high post-void residual, THEN behavioral treatment should be offered.			
Urodynamic Testing	IF a vulnerable elder undergoes surgery or periurethral injections for urinary incontinence, THEN subtracted cystometry should be performed before the procedure.			
Surgery for Stress Incontinence	IF a female vulnerable elder has documented stress urinary incontinence caused by isolated intrinsic sphincter deficiency or intrinsic sphincter deficiency with coexistent hypermobility, and she undergoes surgical correction, THEN a sling or artificial procedure should be used.			
Catheter Use	IF a vulnerable elder has clinically significant newly discovered overflow urinary incontinence and indwelling urethral catheterization is used, THEN there should be documentation that the patient is not a candidate for alternative interventions as a result of severe physical or mental impairments or does not want to alternative interventions.			

APPENDIX B.

Terms Abstracted from Domain Experts Reports

DOMAIN FOCUS: Pressure Ulcer Risk			
Purpose for Which Term Provides Information	Term		
Provider Information	NA, RN, LPN		
Patient Tracking Information			
Patient Information	Age Gender		
Pressure Ulcer	Assess for recurrence of pressure ulcer Location of pressure ulcer Stage of pressure ulcer Ulcer healing		
Risk Status	At risk for developing pressure ulcers High risk for pressure ulcers Risk assessment tools Braden scale Norton scale Skin inspection Periodic reassessment		
Cognition/Mental Status	Comatose Cognitive skill Distracted Awareness Restlessness Lethargy Mental function Altered level of consciousness Depression score Mental status		
Can Request Help	Speech Verbal responses		

Purpose for Which Term Provides Information	Term
Ability to Move Activity Mobility	Bed mobility Bed bound Chair bound Transfer ability Walking ability Locomotion Dressing ability Motion of: neck, arm, hand, leg, foot ADL function Activities of daily living Restraint use Body control Mobility device Difficulty with repositioning Impaired ability to reposition
Ability to Move Activity Mobility (continued)	Immobility Spinal cord injury Physical status
Nutrition	Eating ability Nutritional intake Oral/nutritional status Oral problems Oral nutritional supplements Enteral feeding Modular products Vitamin/mineral supplements Weight loss BMI Poor meal intake Dietary intake Albumin Nitrogen balance Nutritional status Dietary intake of protein Dietary intake of calories Malnutrition Nutrition screening Nutritional assessment

Purpose for Which Term Provides Information	Term
Risk for Moisture Exposure Moisture	Toilet use Personal hygiene Bathing Bowel incontinence Bladder incontinence Briefs Protective padding Underpads Skin hydration
Pressure	Bony prominence
Risk for Delaying Healing	Infections
Outcome and Risk Factor	History of ulcers Hospital stays
Risk for Decreased Tissue Perfusion	Skin pliability Tobacco use CABG
Treatment for Pressure Ulcers	Ulcer care plan Application of dressings Clean dry dressings Dressings that keep ulcer bed continuously moist Protective dressings Cleanse wound

Purpose for Which Term Provides Information	Term
-	Mild cleansing agent Whirlpool treatment Wet to dry dressings Debridement Topical debriding agents Autolytic debridement Enzymatic debridement Mechanical debridement Wound irrigation Foam Gel Growth factors Hormones Hyperbaric oxygen Infrared ultraviolet Hydrotherapy Normal saline Topical agents Topical amioglycoside treatment Topical antibiotics Topical treatment with iodine containing agents Avoid massage over bony prominences Moisturizers Lubricants (corn starch and cream) Electrical stimulation therapy Low energy laser irradiation Assisted oral feeding Oral supplements Devices that totally relieve pressure Distribution of weight Proper postural alignment Characteristics of support surfaces Dynamic support surface Low air loss bed Pressure reducing beds
	Pressure reducing beds Pressure reducing mattresses Pressure reducing overlays Maintain position in bed or chair Nutritional management Aggressive nutritional interventions
	Air fluidized beds Plan of nutritional support Patient education Repositioning schedule Surgical flap Postoperative viability of the surgical site Evaluate adequacy of treatment

Purpose for Which Term Provides Information	Term
Condition Factors	Radiation treatment
Fiction/Shear	Friction injuries Bed linen to move Lifting devices Minimize force and friction Positioning devices Transferring support Turning techniques

DOMAIN FOCUS: Chronic Pain		
Purpose for Which Term Provides Information	Terms	
Risk Factors for Chronic Pain in Long-Term Care Facilities	Presence of diagnoses known to be painful: osteoarthritis, low back pain, fibromyalgia, spinal stenosis, post-herpetic neuralgia, peripheral neuropathy, myofascial pain syndromes, vasogenic claudication, phantom limb pain, headaches, vasculitic pain syndromes, osteoporosis with fractures, cancer, contractures, peripheral vascular disease, pheumatoid arthritis	
Risk of Unrecognized and Thus Untreated Pain	Dementia Delirium	
Location	Pain map Drawing Description	
Intensity or Severity of Pain	Numeric estimate (0-100) Verbal descriptors scale: no pain, moderate, severe, excruciating, worst pain possible, most intense pain imaginable Faces pain scale	
Quality	Terms within McGill pain questionnaire	
Duration	Intermittent, continuous, lasting minutes or hours	
Pattern	When starts, what started it, what makes it better, what makes it worse	
Pain Behaviors	Facial (wrinkled forehead, tightly closed eyes, grimacing, frowning) Nonverbal behavior (bracing, rubbing, guarding) Vocalizations (crying, yelling, groaning, moaning)	
Nonverbal Indicators of Discomfort	Aggressive, crying, fearful, negative vocalization, noisy respirations, pacing, repetitive, restlessness, rocking, confusion irritability, increased activity, withdrawal, tense, calling out, grunting, knees pulled up. Other changes in usual activities or behavior patterns/ routines.	
Impact of Pain on Quality of Life Outcomes	Physical function, sleep, appetite, interpersonal relationship/interactions with others, mood (anxiety, depression), mental status (ability to think clearly/ concentration/confusion), energy/fatigue	
Treatments	Pain intensity monitoring Appropriate use of medications Appropriate use of non-pharmacologic interventions	

DOMAIN FOCUS: Urinary Incontinence		
Purpose for Which Term Provides Information	Terms	
Target History Mental Status Characteristics of Voiding and Non- Invasive Bladder Diagnosis Ability to Toilet Prior Treatment for Incontinence Importance of Problem to Resident	MDS recall scale, MDS item B3, or Cognitive performance scale derived from MDS items Frequency of incontinence Status of incontinence: day and night Symptoms on urination Symptoms to distinguish between urge incontinence (short interval between sensation to void and bladder contraction) and stress incontinence (urine loss during physical movements) Mobility problems on MDS and provider notes	
Targeted Physical	Rectal exam to exclude fecal impaction Skin exam to evaluate skin problems associated with urinary incontinence Genital system exam to identify physical abnormalities that may explain incontinence (e.g., pelvic prolapse)	
Factors Associated with UI	Lab reports Primary care provider notes	
Toileting Responsiveness Assessments	How often person voids when prompted on a routine basis Voiding record Non-invasive diagnoses of bladder function	
Urodynamic Analyses of Bladder Functioning		
Intervention	Prompted toileting Prompted voiding Scheduled toileting Timed voiding	

APPENDIX C.

Examples of MDS-Derived Quality Indicators

Prevalence of Stage 1-4 Pressure Ulcer		
Numerator	Residents with pressure ulcers (Stage 1-4) on most recent assessment.	
Denominator	All residents on most recent assessment.	
MDS 2.0 Quarterly Variable Definition	Pressure ulcer (M2a > 0, or 13 = ICD-9 CM 707.0)	
Risk Adjustment	High Risk: Impaired transfer or bed mobility (G1a or b = 3 or 4-Box A) OR comatose (B1 = 1) OR malnutrition (13 = ICD-9 CM 260,261, 262, 263.0, 263.1, 263.2, 263.8, or 263.9) OR end stage disease (J5c is checked) most recent assessment	
	Low Risk: All others at most recent assessment.	

Prevalence of Bowel or Bladder Incontinence		
Numerator	Residents who were frequently incontinent or incontinent on most recent assessment.	
Denominator	All residents, except as noted in exclusion. Exclude: Residents who are comatose residents (B1 = 1) OR have indwelling catheter (H3d is checked) OR have an ostomy (H3i is checked) at most recent assessment	
MDS 2.0 Quarterly Variable Definition	Bladder incontinence (H1b = 3 or 4) Bowel incontinence (H1a = 3 or 4)	
Risk Adjustment	High Risk: Severe cognitive impairment AND short-term memory problems (B4 = 3 and B2a = 1) OR Totally ADL dependent in mobility ADLs (G1a, b, e-Box A self-performance = 4 in all areas) at most recent assessment	
	Low Risk: All others at most recent assessment.	

APPENDIX D.

Examples of MDS-Derived Quality Measures

Percent of Residents with Pressure Sores with Additional Level of Risk Adjustments (A QM for Long-Stay Residents)		
Numerator	Number of residents with pressure ulcers (stage 1-4) on full or quarterly assessment (M2A > 0 or I3a-e = 707.0)	
Denominator	All residents with valid full (AA8a = 01, 02, 03, 04) or quarterly assessment (AA8a = 05 10) Exclusions: Most recent assessment is the admission assessment (AA8a = 01); the QM is not triggered (resident is not included numerator) AND the value of M2a is missing on the target assessment.	

Resident is a facility with a chronic care sample size =0 (i.e., over the last 12 months no residents with a non-PPS assessment - AA8a= 01 and AA8b=blank or 6)

Facility Admission Profile

Considers prevalence of stage 1-4 PU (M2a>0 OR I3a-e=707.0 among admissions (AA8a=01) occurring over the previous 12 months

Numerator: admission assessments (AA8a=01) w/ M2A.0 OR I3a-e=707.0

Denominator: all admission assessments (AA8a=01)

Exclusions: admission assessments (AA8a=01) that do not satisfy the numerator conditions AND have

missing data on M2a.

Percent of Short-Stay Residents with Pain (A QM for Short-Stay Residents)		
Numerator	Number of residents who experience moderate pain at least daily (J2a = 2 and J2b = 2) OR horrible excruciating pain at any frequency (J2b = 3) as noted on the SNF PPS 14 day	
Denominator	All residents with valid SNF PPS 14 day assessment (AA8b = 7) Exclusions: J2a or J2b missing from SNF PPS 14 day assessment; J2a or J2b inconsistent on the SNF PPS 14 day assessment (e.g., coding pain frequency as "no pain" while simultaneously coding intensity of pain as "moderate"); resident is in a facility with a post-acute care sample size =0 (i.e., SNF PPS 5 day assessment AA8b=1 over the last 12 months).	
Uses SNF PPS 14 day assessment (AA8b=7) with valid preceding 5 day SNF PPS assessment (AA8b=1)		

APPENDIX E.

Contact Information, Terminology Coding Systems

SNOMED CT		
Purpose Reported by Developers	Terminology system that facilitates coding and retrieval of clinically relevant information.	
Copyright	SNOMED International, a division of the College of American Pathologists (CAP)	
Contact Information	SNOMED International 325 Waukegan Road Northfield, IL 60093-2750 Phone: (800) 323-4040 ext. 7700 U.S. (847) 832-7700 Canada E-mail: snomed@cap.org	

ICF		
Purpose Reported by Developers	A classification of health and health related domains that describe body functions and structures, activities and participation.	
Copyright	World Health Organization (WHO)	
Contact Information	World Health Organization Coordinator Classification, Assessment Surveys and Terminology Unit 20, Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva, Switzerland E-mail: ustunb@who.int	

ICNP		
Purpose Reported by Developers	Facilitate the crossmapping of local terms and existing nursing vocabularies and classifications.	
Copyright	International Council of Nurses	
Contact Information	ICNP® Programme Director Marquette University, College of Nursing P.O. Box 1881 Milwaukee, WI 53201 FAX: (414) 288 1939 E-mail: amy.coenen@marquette.edu	

APPENDIX F.

Terms Abstracted from the MDS

MDS TERMS CLASSIFIED AS "ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION" (n=87)

- MDS
- Identification Information
- Resident Name
- First
- Middle
- Last
- Jr/Sr
- Gender
- Birthdate
- Race/ethnicity
- Social security number and Medicare Number
- Facility Provider Number
- State number
- Federal Number
- Medicaid Number
- Reasons for Assessment
- Primary reason for assessment
- Admission assessment
- Annual assessment
- Significant change in status assessment
- Significant correction of prior full assessment
- Quarterly review assessment
- Significant correction of prior quarterly assessment
- Medicare 5 day assessment
- Medicare 30 day assessment
- Medicare 60 day assessment
- Medicare 90 day assessment
- · Medicare readmission/return assessment
- Other state required assessment
- Medicare 14 day assessment
- Other Medicare required assessment
- Signature of Persons Completing a Portion of the Assessment
- Signature
- Title
- Date
- Demographic Information
- Date of Entry
- Admitted from
- Zip Code of Prior Primary Residence
- Date Background Information Completed
- Not applicable no MR/DD
- · Identification and Background Information
- Middle initial
- Room Number
- Assessment Reference Date

- · Last day of MDS observation period
- Marital Status
- Medical Record Number
- Current Payment Sources for NH Stay
- Medicaid per diem
- Medicare per diem
- Medicare ancillary part A
- Medicare ancillary part B
- CHAMPUS per diem
- VA per diem
- Self or family pays for full per diem
- Medicaid resident liability of Medicare copayment
- Private insurance per diem
- Other per diem
- Significant change in status assessment
- Discharged return not anticipated
- · Discharged return anticipated
- Discharged prior to completing initial assessment
- Reentry
- Codes for assessments required for Medicare PPS or the state
- Responsibility/Legal Guardian
- Legal guardian
- Other legal oversight
- Durable power of attorney/health care
- Durable power attorney/financial
- Family member responsible
- Advanced Directives
- Living will
- Do not resuscitate
- Do not hospitalize
- Organ donation
- Autopsy request
- Hospital Stay(s)
- Emergency Room (ER) Visit(s)
- Physician Orders
- Assessment Information
- Participation in Assessment
- Resident
- Family
- Significant other
- Signature of Person Coordinating the Assessment
- Patient responsible for self

MDS TERMS CLASSIFIED AS "RESIDENT HISTORY" (n=143)

- Private home without home health services
- Private home with home health services
- Board and care assisted living group home
- Nursing home
- Acute care hospital
- Psychiatric hospital MR/DD facility
- Rehabilitation hospital
- Lived Alone (Prior to entry)
- Residential History 5 Years Prior to Entry
- Prior stay at this nursing home
- Stay in other nursing home
- Other residential facility board and care home, assisted li
- MH/psychiatric setting
- MR/DD setting
- Lifetime Occupation(s)
- Education
- No schooling
- 8th grade/less
- 9-11 grades
- High school
- Technical or trade school
- Some college
- Bachelor's degree
- Graduate degree
- Language
- English
- Spanish
- French
- Primary language
- Down's syndrome
- Autism
- Epilepsy
- Other organic condition related to MR/DD
- MR/DD with no organic condition
- Mental health history
- Conditions related to MR/DD status
- MR/DD with organic condition
- Other organic condition related to MR/DD
- MR/DD with no organic condition
- Customary Routine
- Cycle of Daily Events
- Stays up late at night
- Naps regularly during day
- Goes out 1+ days a week
- Stays busy with hobbies, reading or fixed daily routing.
- Spends most of time alone of watching TV

- Moves independently indoors
- Use of tobacco products at least daily
- Eating Patterns
- Distinct food preferences
- Eats between meals all or most days
- Use of alcoholic beverage(s) at least weekly
- ADL Patterns
- No change in ADL function
- Improved
- Deteriorated
- In bedclothes much of day
- Wakens to toilet all or most nights
- Has irregular bowel movement patterns
- Showers for bathing
- Bathing in PM
- Involvement Patterns
- Daily contact with relatives/close friends
- Usually attends church, temple, synagogue
- Finds strength in faith
- Daily animal companion/presence
- Involved in group activities
- Past Roles
- Frequently incontinent
- Incontinent
- Disease Diagnosis
- Diseases
- Endocrine/metabolic/nutritional
- Diabetes mellitus
- Hyperthyroidism
- Hypothyroidism
- Heart/circulation
- ASHD
- Cardiac dysrythmias
- Congestive heart failure
- Deep vein thrombosis
- Hypertension
- Hypotension
- Peripheral vascular disease
- Other cardiovascular disease
- Musculoskeletal
- Arthritis
- Hip fracture
- Missing limb
- Osteoporosis
- · Pathological bone fracture
- Neurological
- Alzheimer's disease

- Aphasia
- Cerebral palsy
- Cerebrovascular accident
- Dementia other than Alzheimer's disease
- Hemiplegia/hemiparesis
- Multiple sclerosis
- Paraplegia
- Parkinson's disease
- Quadriplegia
- Seizure disorder
- Transient ischemic attack
- Traumatic brain injury
- Psychiatric/mood
- Anxiety disorder
- Depression
- Manic depression
- Schizophrenia
- Pulmonary
- Asthma
- Emphysema
- Sensory
- Cataracts
- Diabetic retinopathy
- Glaucoma
- Macular degeneration
- Allergies

- Anemia
- Cancer
- Renal failure
- Infections
- Antibiotic resistant infection
- Clostridium difficile
- Conjunctivitis
- HIV infection
- Pneumonia
- Respiratory infection
- Septicemia
- Sexually transmitted disease
- Tuberculosis
- Urinary tract infection in last 30 days
- · Viral hepatitis
- Wound infection
- Other Current or more Detailed Diagnoses and ICD-9 Codes
- Accidents
- Fell in past 30 days
- Fell in past 31-180 days
- Hip fracture in last 180 days
- Other fracture in last 180 days
- End-stage disease
- History of Resolved Ulcers

MDS TERMS CLASSIFIED AS "ASSESSMENTS" (n=273)

- Cognitive Patterns
- Comatose
- Memory
- Short-term memory OK
- Long-term memory OK
- Memory/recall Ability
- Current season
- Location of own room
- Staff names/faces
- That he/she is in a nursing home
- Cognitive skills for Daily Decision Making
- Indicators of Delirium-Periodic Disordered Thinking/Awareness
- Easily distracted
- Periods of altered perception or awareness of surroundings
- Episodes of disorganized speech
- Periods of restlessness
- Periods of lethargy
- Mental function varies over the course of the day
- Change in Cognitive Status
- Communication/Hearing patterns
- Hearing
- Hears adequately
- · Minimal difficulty hearing
- Hears in special situations only
- Highly impaired hearing
- Communication Devices/Techniques
- Hearing aid present and used
- Hearing aid present and not used regularly
- Other receptive comm. Techniques used
- Modes of Expression
- Speech
- Writing messages to express or clarify needs
- · American sign language or Braille
- Signs/gestures/sounds
- Communication board
- Making Self Understood
- Understood
- Usually understood
- Sometimes understood
- Rarely/Never understood
- Speech clarity
- Clear speech
- Unclear speech
- No speech
- Ability to Understand Others

- Understands
- Usually understands
- Sometimes understands
- Rarely/Never understands
- Change in Communication/Hearing
- Vision Patterns
- Vision
- Adequate
- Impaired
- Moderately impaired
- Highly impaired
- Severely impaired
- Visual Limitations/Difficulties
- Side vision problems
- Experiences any of following:
- Mood and Behavior Patterns
- Indicators of Depression, Anxiety, Sad Mood
- Verbal expressions of distress
- Resident made negative statements
- Repetitive questions
- Repetitive verbalizations
- Persistent anger with self or others
- Self deprecation
- Expressions of what appear to be unrealistic fears
- Recurrent statements that something terrible is about to happen
- Repetitive health complaints
- Repetitive anxious complaints/concerns
- Sleep cycle issues
- Unpleasant mood in morning
- Insomnia/change in usual sleep pattern
- Sad, apathetic, anxious appearance
- Sad, pained, worried facial expressions
- · Crying, tearfulness
- Repetitive physical movements
- Loss of interest
- Withdrawal from activities of interest
- Reduced social interaction
- Mood Persistence
- Change in Mood
- Behavioral Symptoms
- Wandering
- Verbally abusive behavioral symptoms
- Physically abusive behavioral symptoms
- Socially inappropriate/disruptive behavioral symptoms

- · Resists care
- Change in Behavioral Symptoms
- Psychosocial Well-Being
- Sense of Initiative/Involvement
- At ease interacting with others
- At ease doing planned or structured activities
- At ease doing self-initiated activities
- Establishes own goals
- Pursues involvement in life of facility
- Accepts invitations into most group activities
- Unsettled Relationships
- Covert/open conflict with or repeated criticism of staff
- Unhappy with roommate
- Unhappy with residents other than roommate
- Openly expressed conflict/anger with family/friends
- Recent loss of close family member/friend
- Does not adjust easily to change in routines
- Strong identification with past roles and life status
- Expresses sadness/anger/empty feeling over lost roles/status
- Resident perceives that daily routine is very different from prior pattern in the community
- Physical Functioning and Structural Problems
- ADL Self Performance/ADL support provided
- Bed mobility
- Transfer
- Walk in room
- Walk in corridor
- Locomotion off unit
- Dressing
- Eating
- Toilet use
- Personal hygiene
- Bathing
- ADL self-performance
- Independent
- Supervision
- Limited assistance
- Extensive assistance
- Total dependence
- Activity did not occur
- ADL support provided
- No setup or physical help from staff
- One person physical assist
- Two + person physical assist
- Test for Balance

- · Balance while standing
- Balance while sitting
- Functional Limitation in Range of Motion
- Neck
- Arm
- Hand
- Leg
- Foot
- Other limitation or loss
- Modes of Locomotion
- Cane/walker/crutch
- Wheeled self
- Other person wheeled
- Wheelchair primary mode of locomotion
- Modes of Transfer
- Bedfast all or most of time
- Bed rails used for bed mobility or transfer
- Lifted manually
- Lifted mechanically
- Transfer aid
- Task Segmentation
- ADL Functional Rehabilitation Potential
- Resident believes he/she is capable of increased independence
- Direct care staff believe resident is capable of increased in
- Resident able to perform tasks/activity but is very slow
- Difference in ADL self-performance or ADL support, comparing mornings to evenings
- Change in Function
- Continence in Last 14 Days
- Continence Self-Control Categories
- Continent
- Usually Continent
- Occasionally incontinent
- Bowel continence
- Bladder continence
- Bowel elimination pattern
- Regular
- Constipation
- Diarrhea
- Fecal impaction
- Did not use toilet room/commode/urinal
- · Change in urinary continence
- Health Conditions
- Problem Conditions
- Indicators of fluid status
- Weight gain or loss of 3 or more pounds within

- a 7 day period
- Inability to lie flat due to shortness of breath
- Dehydrated; output exceeds input
- Insufficient fluid; did not consume all/almost all liquids provided during last 3 days
- Delusions
- Dizziness/vertigo
- Edema
- Fever
- Hallucinating
- Internal bleeding
- Recurrent lung aspirations in last 90 days
- Shortness of breath
- Syncopy
- Unsteady gait
- Vomiting
- Pain Symptoms
- Frequency
- Intensity
- Pain Site
- Back
- Bone
- Chest pain while doing usual activities
- Headache
- Hip
- Incisional pain
- Joint pain
- Soft tissue pain
- Stomach pain
- Stability of Conditions
- Conditions/diseases make resident's cognitive,
 ADL, mood or behavior patterns unstable
- Resident experiencing an acute episode or a flare-up of a recurrent or chronic problem
- Oral/Nutritional Status
- Oral Problems
- Chewing problem
- Swallowing problem
- Mouth pain
- Height
- Weight
- Weight Change
- Weight loss
- Weight gain
- Nutritional Problems
- Complains about the taste of many foods
- Regular or repetitive complaints of hunger
- Leaves 25% or more of food uneaten at most meals
- Oral/Dental Status

- Oral Status and Disease Prevention
- Debris present in mouth prior to going to bed at night
- Has dentures or removable bridge
- Some/all natural teeth lost
- Broken, loose, or carious teeth
- Inflamed gums
- Daily cleaning of teeth/dentures or daily mouth care
- Skin condition
- Ulcers
- Stage 1
- Stage 2
- Stage 3
- Stage 4
- Type of Ulcer
- Pressure ulcer
- Stasis ulcer
- Other skin Problems or Lesions Present
- Abrasions
- Burns
- Open lesions other than ulcers, rashes, cuts
- Rashes
- Skin desensitized to pain or pressure
- · Skin tears or cuts
- Surgical wounds
- Resident has one or more foot problems
- Infection of the foot
- Open lesions on the foot
- Activity Pursuit Patterns
- Time Awake
- Average Time Involved in Activities
- Preferred Activity Settings
- General Activity Preferences
- Prefers Change in Daily Routine
- Type of activities in which resident is currently involved
- Extent of resident involvement in activities
- Intake/output
- Evaluation by a licensed mental health specialist in last 90 days
- Transfer
- Walking
- Dressing or grooming
- Eating or swallowing
- Amputation/prosthesis care
- Communication
- Abnormal Lab Values
- Discharge Potential and Overall Status

- Discharge Potential
- Resident expresses/indicates preference to return to the community
- Resident has a support person who is positive

towards discharge

- Stay projected to be of a short duration
- Overall Change in Care Needs

MDS TERMS CLASSIFIED AS "TREATMENTS" (n= 93)

- · Feeding restrictions
- · Medication restrictions
- Other treatment restrictions
- Visual Appliances
- Glasses
- Contacts lenses
- Magnifying glass
- Appliances and programs
- Any scheduled toileting plan
- Bladder retraining program
- External catheter
- Indwelling catheter
- Intermittent catheter
- Pads/briefs used
- Enemas/irrigation
- Ostomy present
- Nutritional Approaches
- Parenteral/IV
- Feeding tube
- · Mechanically altered diet
- Syringe
- Therapeutic diet
- Dietary supplement between meals
- Plate guard, stabilized built-up utensil
- On a planned weight change program
- Parenteral or Enteral Intake
- Code the proportion of total calories the resident received through parenteral or tube feedings in the last 7 days
- Skin Treatments
- Pressure relieving device for chair
- Pressure relieving device for bed
- Turning/repositioning program
- Nutrition or hydration intervention to manage skin problems
- Ulcer care
- Surgical wound care
- Application of dressings
- Application of ointments/ medications
- Other preventative or protective skin care
- Foot Problems and Care
- Received preventive or protective foot care
- Medications
- Number of Medications
- New Medications
- Injections
- Days Received the Following Medications
- Antipsychotic
- Antianxiety
- Antidepressant

- Hypnotic
- Diuretic
- Special Treatments and Procedures
- Special Treatments, Procedures, and Programs
- Special care
- Treatments
- Chemotherapy
- Dialvsis
- IV medication
- Monitoring acute medical condition
- Ostomy care
- Oxygen therapy
- Radiation
- Suctioning
- Tracheostomy care
- Transfusions
- Ventilator or respirator
- Programs
- Alcohol/drug treatment program
- Alzheimer's/dementia special care unit
- Hospice care
- Pediatric care
- Respite care
- Training in skills required to return to the community
- Therapies
- Occupational therapy
- Physical therapy
- Respiratory therapy
- Psychological therapy
- Intervention Programs for Mood, Behavior, Cognitive Loss
- Special behavior symptoms evaluation program
- Group therapy
- Resident-specific deliberate changes in the environment to address mood/behavior patterns
- Reorientation
- Nursing Rehabilitation/Restorative Care
- Range of motion (active)
- Range of motion (passive)
- Splint of brace assistance
- Training and skill practice in:
- Devices and Restraints
- Bed rails
- Full bed rails on all open sides of bed
- Other types of side rails used
- Trunk restraint
- Limb restraint

• Chair prevents rising

MDS TERMS CLASSIFIED AS "OTHER" (n=43)

- Section
- If other, specify
- Not applicable
- Unknown
- Face Sheet Signatures
- Signatures of persons completing face sheet
- Signature of RN assessment coordinator
- Title
- Original or corrected copy of form
- Date of Reentry
- other
- none of above
- None
- 1% to 25%
- 26% to 50%
- 51% to 75%
- 76% to 100%
- Code the average fluid intake per day by IV or tube in last 7 days
- 1 to 500 cc/day
- 501 to 1000 cc/day
- 1001 to 1500 cc/day
- 1501 to 2000 cc/day

- 2001 or more cc/day
- Morning
- Afternoon
- Evening
- Own room
- Day/activity room
- Inside NH/off unit
- Outside facility
- Cards/other games
- Crafts/arts
- Exercise/sports
- Music
- Reading/writing
- Spiritual/religious activities
- Trips/shopping
- Walking/wheeling outdoors
- Watching TV
- Gardening or plants
- Talking or conversing
- Helping others
- Physician visits

APPENDIX G.

Terms Provided by Domain Experts, Partial or No Matches

Terms From Domain Experts, Partial Match or No Match to MDS		
Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match MDS	No Match MDS
Pressure Ulcer Terms		
Adequacy of treatment		Adequacy of treatment
Air-fluidized bed	Pressure relieving device for bed	
Avoid positioning directly on the trochanter		Avoid positioning directly on the trochanter
Body control		Body control
Bony prominences		Bony prominence
Braden scale		Braden scale
Cellulitis		Cellulitis
Characteristics of support surfaces		Characteristics of support surfaces
Clean dressings	Application of dressings	
Complete history		Complete history
Complete physical examination		Complete physical examination
Debridement (sharp, mechanical, enzymatic, or autolytic)	Ulcer care	
Dietary intake of protein		Dietary intake of protein
Depression score		Depression score
Dietary intake of calories	Calories received through parenteral or tube feedings in last 7 days	
Dynamic support surface	Pressure relieving device for bed	
Educational program for prevention of pressure ulcers	Nursing rehabilitation/restoration "other"	
Electrical stimulation therapy	Ulcer care	
Eschar		Eschar
Exudate		Exudate
Film dressing	Ulcer care	
Friction		Friction

Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match MDS	No Match MDS
Friction injuries		Friction injuries
Hydrocolloid dressing	Ulcer care	
Hydrotherapy	Ulcer care	
Hyperbaric oxygen	Ulcer care	
Inspect skin at least once a day, if early treatment		Inspect skin at least once a day, if early treatment
Irrigation pressure		Irrigation pressure
Lifting devices		Lifting devices
Low air-loss bed	Pressure relieving device for bed	
Lubricants to reduce friction injuries		Lubricants to reduce friction injuries
Modular products		Modular products
Moisture exposure on intact skin		Moisture exposure on intact skin
Mineral supplements		Mineral supplements
Normal saline for cleansing	Ulcer care	
Norton scale		Norton scale
Oral intake goals		Oral intake goals
Periodic reassessment (at least weekly)		Periodic reassessment
Poor meal intake		Poor meal intake
Positioning devices		Positioning devices
Positioning techniques		Positioning techniques
Postural alignment		Postural alignment
Protective films		Protective films
Protective dressings		Protective dressings
Protective padding		Protective padding
Range of motion		Range of motion
Risk for delayed healing		Risk for delayed healing
Risk for moisture exposure		Risk for moisture exposure

Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match MDS	No Match MDS
Risk for pressure ulcers		Risk for pressure ulcers
Shearing		Shearing
Sepsis		
Severity of illness		Severity of illness
Shift weight every 15 minutes	Nursing rehabilitation/restoration "other"	
Skin cleansed at routine intervals		Skin cleansed at routine intervals
Skin cleansed at time of soiling		Skin cleansed at time of soiling
Static support surface		Static support surface
Stryker frame		Stryker frame
Tissue viability of the surgical site (if operative repair of pressure ulcer)		Tissue viability of surgical site
Topical treatment with iodine containing agents	Application of ointments/ medications	
Transferring support	Modes of transfer	
Treatment goals		Treatment goals
Ulcer care plan evaluated		Ulcer care plan evaluated
Vitamin supplements	Number of medications	
Whirlpool treatment	Ulcer care	
Chronic Pain Terms		
Contractures		Contractures
Drawing of pain location		Drawing of pain location
Energy/fatigue		Energy/fatigue
Faces pain scale		Faces pain scale
Facial expressions (wrinkled forehead, tightly closed eyes, grimacing, frowning)	Sad, pained, worried facial expression	
Fibromyalgia		Fibromyalgia
Grunting	Making self understood	

Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match MDS	No Match MDS
Headaches		Headaches
Impact of pain on (quality of life outcomes, physical function, sleep, appetite, interpersonal relationships/interactions with others, mood, mental staus)		Impact of pain on (quality of life outcomes)
Irritability	Verbal expressions of distress (e.g., repetitive anxious complaints/concerns)	
Knees pulled up		Knees pulled up
Lasting minutes or hours		Lasting minutes or hours
Low back pain		Low back pain
McGill pain questionnaire		McGill pain questionnaire
Monitoring pain intensity	Pain intensity	
Myofascial pain syndromes		Myofascial pain syndromes
Non-pharmacologic interventions		Non-pharmacologic interventions
Nonverbal behaviors (bracing, rubbing, guarding)		Nonverbal behaviors (bracing, rubbing, guarding)
Numbness		Numbness
Osteoarthritis	Arthritis	
Pain behaviors		Pain behaviors
Pain intensity	Pain intensity	
Pain map		Pain map
Patient satisfaction associated with pain management		Patient satisfaction associated with pain management
Pattern of pain		Pattern of pain
Peripheral neuropathy		Peripheral neuropathy
Phantom limb pain		Phantom limb pain
Post-herpetic neuralgia		Post-herpetic neuralgia
Radiating pain		Radiating pain
Rheumatoid arthritis	Arthritis	

Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match MDS	No Match MDS
Risk of unrecognized and thus untreated pain		Risk of unrecognized and thus untreated pain
Screening procedures		Screening procedures
Spinal stenosis		Spinal stenosis
Stabbing pain	Pain symptom	
Throbbing pain	Pain symptom	
Tingling		Tingling
Vasculitic pain syndromes		Vasculitic pain syndromes
Vasogenic claudication		Vasogenic claudication
Verbal descriptors scale		Verbal descriptors scale
What starts pain		What starts pain
What makes pain better		What makes pain better
What makes pain worse		What makes pain worse
When pain starts		When pain starts
Urinary Incontinence Terms		_
Ability to toilet	Toilet use	
Characteristics of voiding and non-invasive bladder diagnosis		Characteristics of voiding and non-invasive bladder diagnosis
Factors associated with UI		Factors associated with UI
Genital system exam to identify physical abnormalities that may explain incontinence (e.g., pelvic prolapse)		Genital system exam to identify physical abnormalities that may explain incontinence (e.g., pelvic prolapse)
How often person voids when prompted on a routine basis		How often person voids when prompted on a routine basis
Importance of problem to resident		Importance of problem to resident
Lab reports		Lab reports
Non-invasive diagnoses of bladder function		Non-invasive diagnoses of bladder function
Primary care provider notes		Primary care provider notes

Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match MDS	No Match MDS
Prior treatment for incontinence		Prior treatment for incontinence
Prompted toileting	Any scheduled toileting plan	
Prompted void		
Rectal exam to exclude fecal impaction		Rectal exam to exclude fecal impaction
Skin exam to evaluate skin problems associated with uninary incontinence		Skin exam to evaluate skin problems associated with uninary incontinence
Status of incontinence: day and night	Bladder continence	
Symptoms on urination		Symptoms on urination
Symptoms to distinguish between urge incontinence (short interval between sensation to void and bladder contraction) and stress incontinence (urine loss during physical movements)		Symptoms to distinguish between urge incontinence (short interval between sensation to void and bladder contraction) and stress incontinence (urine loss during physical movements)
Targeted history		Targeted history
Targeted physical		Targeted physical
Toileting responsiveness assessments		Toileting responsiveness assessments
Urodynamic analyses of bladder functioning		Urodynamic analyses of bladder functioning
Voiding record	Any scheduled toileting plan	Voiding record

Terms From Domain Experts, Partial Match or No Match to SNOMED CT				
Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match SNOMED CT	No Match SNOMED CT		
Pressure Ulcer Terms				
Activity	Type of activity	Activity		
Adequacy of treatment		Adequacy of treatment		
Awareness	Consciousness	(SNOMED term "state of awareness" is a retired concept)		
Bed bound	Bed ridden			
Bony prominences		Bony prominences		
Braden scale		Braden scale		
Can request help	Request for Ability to ask questions (specific types of help)	Help		
Chair bound	Confined to chair			
Characteristics of support surfaces		Characteristics of support surfaces		
Condition factors		Condition factors		
Difficulty with repositioning	Repositioning	Difficulty with repositioning		
Distracted	Easily distracted	Distracted without modifier		
Friction injuries		Friction injuries		
Locomotion		Locomotion		
Modular products		Modular products		
Moisture		Moisture exposure		
Motion of: neck, arm, hand, leg, foot	Motion Ability to move arm Ability to move hand Ability to move leg Ability to move foot	Motion		
Norton scale		Norton scale		
Periodic reassessment		Periodic reassessment		
Poor meal intake	Food intake	Meal		
Skin pliability	Skin assessment	Pliability		

Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match SNOMED CT	No Match SNOMED CT
Ulcer care plan evaluated	Care plan Evaluation	Ulcer care plan
Verbal responses	Uses verbal communication	
Viability of the surgical site		(SNOMED term "surgical site" has been retired)
Chronic Pain Terms		
Description	Symptom description NOS	Description
Drawing		Drawing
Faces pain scale	Finding of present pain intensity	Faces pain scale
Facial expressions (wrinkled forehead, tightly closed eyes, grimacing, frowning)	Grimaces	Wrinkled forehead Tightly closed eyes Frowning
Grunting	Vocalization	(SNOMED includes term grunting but "is_a" animal vocalization)
Impact of pain on quality of life outcomes	Pain Determination of outcome	Impact Quality of life
Lasting minutes or hours	Time frame Intervals of minutes Intervals of hours	Lasting
Negative vocalization	Negative Vocalization	Negative vocalization
Nonverbal behavior (bracing, rubbing, guarding)		Nonverbal behavior (bracing, rubbing, guarding)
Nonverbal indicators of discomfort	Discomfort	Nonverbal indicators
Pain map		Мар
Physical function		Physical function
Risk of unrecognized and thus untreated pain	Risk of Pain	Unrecognized Untreated
Vasculitic pain syndomes	Pain	Vasculitic pain syndomes
Withdrawal from activities of interest	Loss of interest	Withdrawal from activities
Urinary Incontinence Terms		

Terms from Domain Experts	Partial Match SNOMED CT	No Match SNOMED CT
Importance of problem to resident	Problem	Importance Resident
Targeted history	History taking Has focus	Targeted
Targeted physical	Physical exam Limited	Targeted

APPENDIX H.

References Provided by Domain Experts

CHRONIC PAIN REFERENCES

- Abrahm JL, and Snyder L. Pain assessment and management. *Primary Care; Clinics in Office Practice*. 2001;28(2):269-297.
- Anonymous. Management of Cancer Pain. In: US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, eds. *Management of Cancer Pain Guideline Panel*. Vol Clinical Practice Guideline No. 9. Rockville, MD: US Agency for Health Care Policy and Research; 1994.
- Anonymous. Practice guidelines for chronic pain management. In: A report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists, ed. *Anesthesiology, Chronic Pain Section,* Vol 86: Task Force on Pain Management, 1997:995-1004.
- Anonymous. The management of chronic pain in older persons. AGS Panel on Chronic Pain in Older Persons. American Geriatrics Society. *Geriatrics* 1998;53 Suppl 3:S8-24.
- Anonymous. Chronic Pain Management in the Long-Term care Setting--Clinical Practice Guideline. *American Medical Directors Association*. 1999.
- Anonymous. The management of chronic pain in older persons. AGS Panel on Chronic Pain in Older Persons. *American Geriatrics Society. Geriatrics.* 2002;50:1-20.
- Bernabei R, Gambassi G, Lapane K, et al. Management of pain in elderly patients with cancer. SAGE Study Group. Systematic Assessment of Geriatric Drug Use via Epidemiology. [see comments.] [erratum appears in JAMA 1999 Jan 13;281(2):136.] *JAMA* 1998;279(23):1877-1882.
- Berry, PH, and Dahl JL. The new JCAHO pain standards: implications for pain management nurses. *Pain Management Nursing*. 2000;1(1):3-12.
- Beth. P, K. PR. Management of Chronic Pain in the Elderly: Pharmacology of Opoids and Other Analgesic Drugs. In: BR Ferrell, BA Ferrell, ed. *Pain in the Elderly.* Vol ASP Press. Seattle: IASP Press; 1996 ASP Press.
- Buffum MD, Miaskowski C, Sands L, and Brod M. A pilot study of the relationship between discomfort and agitation in patients with dementia. *Geriatric Nursing*. 2001;22(2):80-85.

- Chodosh J, Ferrell BA, Shekelle PG, and Wenger NS. Quality indicators for pain management in vulnerable elders. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2001;135(8 Pt 2):731-735.
- Cramer GW, Galer BS, Mendelson MA, and Thompson GD. A drug use evaluation of selected opioid and nonopioid analgesics in the nursing facility setting. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2000;48(4):398-404.
- Feldt KS. The checklist of nonverbal pain indicators (CNPI). *Pain Management Nursing*. 2000;1(1):13-21.
- Feldt KS. Improving assessment and treatment of pain in cognitively impaired nursing home residents. *Annuals of Long Term Care*. 2000;8(9):36-42.
- Ferrell BA, Ferrell BR, and Osterweil D. Pain in the nursing home. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1990;38(4):409-414.
- Ferrell BR, Grant M, Ritchey KJ, Ropchan R, and Rivera LM. The pain resource nurse training program: a unique approach to pain management. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*. 1993;8(8):549-556.
- Ferrell BA. Pain evaluation and management in the nursing home. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1995;123(9):681-687.
- Ferrell BA, Ferrell BR, and Rivera L. Pain in cognitively impaired nursing home patients. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management.* 1995;10(8):591-598.
- Ferrell BA. Pain management. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*. 2000;16(4):853-874.
- Foley KM. Pain management in the elderly. In: Hazzard WR, Bierman EL, Blass JP, Ettiinger WH, and Halter JB, eds. *Principles of Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology*. New York: McGraw-Hill, Health Professions Divisions; 1994:317-331.
- Gagliese L., and Melzack R. Age differences in the quality of chronic pain: a preliminary study. *Pain Research and Management*. 1997;2:157-162.
- Gloth FM, 3rd. Pain management in older adults: prevention and treatment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 2001;49(2):188-199.
- Herr KA, and Mobily PR. Comparison of selected pain assessment tools for use with the elderly. *Applied Nursing Research*. 1993;6(1):39-46.

- Herr KA, and Mobily PR. Pain management for the elderly in alternative care settings. In: Ferrell BA, Ferrell BR, eds. *Pain in the Elderly*. Seattle: IASP Press; 1996.
- Herr KA, Mobily PR, Kohout FJ, and Wagenaar D. Evaluation of the Faces Pain Scale for use with the elderly. *Clinical Journal of Pain*. 1998;14(1):29-38.
- Herr KA, Garand L. Assessment and measurement of pain in older adults. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*. 2001;17(3):457-478.
- Herr K. Chronic pain in the older patient: management strategies. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*. 2002;28(2):28-34; quiz 54-25.
- Horgas AL, and Tsai PF. Analgesic drug prescription and use in cognitively impaired nursing home residents. [see comments.]. *Nursing Research*. 1998;47(4):235-242.
- Huffman JC, and Kunik ME. Assessment and understanding of pain in patients with dementia. *Gerontologist*. 2000;40(5):574-581.
- Hurley AC, Volicer BJ, Hanrahan PA, Houde S, and Volicer L. Assessment of discomfort in advanced Alzheimer patients. *Research in Nursing and Health.* 1992;15(5):369-377.
- Katsma DL, and Souza CH. Elderly pain assessment and pain management knowledge of long-term care nurses. *Pain Management Nursing*. 2000;1(3):88-95.
- Kovach CR, Weissman DE, Griffie J, Matson S, and Muchka S. Assessment and treatment of discomfort for people with late-stage dementia. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management.* 1999;18(6):412-419.
- Kovach CR, Griffie J, Muchka S, Noonan PE, and Weissman DE. Nurses' perceptions of pain assessment and treatment in the cognitively impaired elderly. It's not a guessing game. [see comments.]. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*. 2000;14(5):215-220.
- Lanser P, and Gesell S. Pain management: the fifth vital sign. *Healthcare Benchmarks*. 2001;8(6):68-70.
- Loeb J, and Pasero C. JCAHO standards in long-term care. *American Journal of Nursing*. 2000;100(5):22-23.
- Luggen AS. Chronic pain in older adults. A quality of life issue. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing.* 1998;24(2):48-54.

- Merboth MK, and Barnason S. Managing pain: the fifth vital sign. *Nursing Clinics of North America*. 2000;35(2):375-383.
- Miller J, Neelon V, Dalton J, et al. The assessment of discomfort in elderly confused patients: a preliminary study. *Journal of Neuroscience Nursing*. 1996;28(3):175-182.
- Morrison RS, and Siu AL. A comparison of pain and its treatment in advanced dementia and cognitively intact patients with hip fracture. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*. 2000;19(4):240-248.
- Parmelee PA, Katz IR, and Lawton MP. The relation of pain to depression among institutionalized aged. *Journal of Gerontology.* 1991;46(1):P15-21.
- Parmelee PA, Smith B, and Katz IR. Pain complaints and cognitive status among elderly institution residents. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1993;41(5):517-522.
- Pasero C, McCaffery M, and Gordon DB. Build institutional commitment to improving pain management. *Nursing Management (Springhouse)*. 1999;30(1):27-33; quiz 33-24.
- Popp B, and Portenoy RK. Management of Chronic Pain in the Elderly: Pharmacology of Opioids and Other Analgesic Drugs. In: BR Ferrell, BA Ferrell, eds. *Pain in the Elderly*. Seattle: IASP Press; 1996:21-34.
- Ryan M, Ambrosio DA, Gebhard C, and Kowalski J. Pain management: an organizational commitment. *Pain Management Nursing*. 2000;1(2):34-39.
- Sengstaken EA, and King SA. The problems of pain and its detection among geriatric nursing home residents. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1993;41(5):541-544.
- Simons W, and Malabar R. Assessing pain in elderly patients who cannot respond verbally. *Journal of Advanced Nursing.* 1995;22(4):663-669.
- Weiner D, Pieper C, McConnell E, Martinez S, and Keefe F. Pain measurement in elders with chronic low back pain: traditional and alternative approaches. *Pain.* 1996;67(2-3):461-467.
- Weiner D, Peterson B, and Keefe F. Evaluating persistent pain in long term care residents: what role for pain maps? *Pain.* 1998;76(1-2):249-257.
- Weiner D, Peterson B, and Keefe F. Chronic pain-associated behaviors in the nursing home: resident versus caregiver perceptions. *Pain.* 1999;80(3):577-588.

- Weissman DE, and Matson S. Pain assessment and management in the long-term care setting. *Theoretical Medicine and Bioethics*. 1999;20(1):31-43.
- Wynne CF, Ling SM, and Remsburg R. Comparison of pain assessment instruments in cognitively intact and cognitively impaired nursing home residents. *Geriatric Nursing*. 2000;21(1):20-23.

PRESSURE ULCER REFERENCES

- Agostini JV, Bogardus ST, and Baker DI. Prevention of Pressure Ulcers in Older Patients. In: AHRQ AfHRaQ, ed. *Making Health Care Safer: A Critical Analysis of Patient Safety Practices*. Vol Publication No. 01-E058: Shojania KG, Duncan BW, McDonald KM, et al., eds; 2001.
- AHCPR. Pressure Ulcers in Adults: Prediction and Prevention. Clinical Practice Guideline No. 3. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Health Care Policy and Research; 1992 AHCPR Publication no. 92-0047.
- Allman RM. Pressure ulcers: using what we know to improve quality of care. [letter; comment.]. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 2001;49(7):996-997
- Allman RM, Laprade CA, Noel LB, et al. Pressure sores among hospitalized patients. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1986;105(3):337-342.
- Allman RM, Walker JM, Hart MK, Laprade CA, Noel LB, and Smith CR. Air-fluidized beds or conventional therapy for pressure sores. A randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1987;107(5):641-648.
- AMDA. *Pressure Ulcers:Clinical Practical Guideline*. Columbia, MD: American Medical Directors Association; 1996.
- Aronovitch SA. A comparative, randomized, controlled study to determine safety and efficacy of preventive pressure ulcer systems: preliminary analysis. *Advances in Wound Care*. 1998;11(3 Suppl):15-16.
- Bates-Jensen BM. The Pressure Sore Status Tool a few thousand assessments later. *Advances in Wound Care.* 1997;10(5):65-73.
- Bates-Jensen BM. Quality indicators for prevention and management of pressure ulcers in vulnerable elders. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2001;135(8 Pt 2):744-751.
- Bates-Jensen BM, Vredevoe DL, and Brecht ML. Validity and reliability of the Pressure Sore Status Tool. *Decubitus*. 1992;5(6):20-28.
- Bergquist S. Subscales, subscores, or summative score: evaluating the contribution of Braden Scale items for predicting pressure ulcer risk in older adults receiving home health care. *Journal of Wocn.* 2001;28(6):279-289.

- Bergstrom N, and Braden B. A prospective study of pressure sore risk among institutionalized elderly. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1992;40(8):747-758.
- Bergstrom, N, Braden B, Kemp M, Champagne M, and Ruby E. Multi-site study of incidence of pressure ulcers and the relationship between risk level, demographic characteristics, diagnoses, and prescription of preventive interventions. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1996;44(1):22-30.
- Bergstrom N, Braden B, Kemp M, Champagne M, and Ruby E. Predicting pressure ulcer risk: a multisite study of the predictive validity of the Braden Scale. [see comments.]. *Nursing Research.* 1998;47(5):261-269.
- Bergstrom N, Braden BJ, Laguzza A, and Holman V. The Braden scale for predicting pressure sore risk. *Nursing Research*. 1987;36(4):205-210.
- Berlowitz DR, Bezerra HQ, Brandeis GH, Kader B, and Anderson JJ. Are we improving the quality of nursing home care: the case of pressure ulcers. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2000;48(1):59-62.
- Berlowitz DR, Brandeis GH, Morris JN, et al. Deriving a risk-adjustment model for pressure ulcer development using the Minimum Data Set. [see comments.]. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 2001;49(7):866-871.
- Berlowitz DR, and Wilking SV. Risk factors for pressure sores. A comparison of cross-sectional and cohort-derived data. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1989;37(11):1043-1050.
- Berlowitz DR, Young GJ, Brandeis GH, Kader B, and Anderson JJ. Health care reorganization and quality of care: unintended effects on pressure ulcer prevention. *Medical Care*. 2001;39(2):138-146.
- Braden BJ, and Bergstrom N. Predictive validity of the Braden Scale for pressure sore risk in a nursing home population. *Research in Nursing and Health.* 1994;17(6):459-470.
- Brandeis GH, Morris JN, Nash DJ, and Lipsitz LA. The epidemiology and natural history of pressure ulcers in elderly nursing home residents. [see comments.]. *JAMA*. 1990;264(22):2905-2909.
- Brandeis GH, Ooi WL, Hossain M, Morris JN, and Lipsitz LA. A longitudinal study of risk factors associated with the formation of pressure ulcers in nursing homes. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1994;42(4):388-393.

- Castle NG. Administrator turnover and quality of care in nursing homes. *Gerontologist*. 2001;41(6):757-767.
- Colin D, Kurring PA, and Yvon C. Managing sloughy pressure sores. *Journal of Wound Care*. 1996;5(10):444-446.
- Cullum N, Deeks J, Sheldon TA, Song F, and Fletcher AW. Beds, mattresses and cushions for pressure sore prevention and treatment. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2000(2):CD001735.
- Dlugacz YD, Stier L, and Greenwood A. Changing the system: a quality management approach to pressure injuries. *Journal for Healthcare Quality: Promoting Excellence in Healthcare*. 2001;23(5):15-19; quiz 19-20.
- Fenner SP. Developing and implementing a wound care program in long-term care. *Journal of Wocn.* 1999;26(5):254-260.
- Ferrell BA. The Sessing Scale for measurement of pressure ulcer healing. *Advances in Wound Care*. 1997;10(5):78-80.
- Ferrell BA, Osterweil D, and Christenson P. A randomized trial of low-air-loss beds for treatment of pressure ulcers. [see comments.] [erratum appears in JAMA 1993 Jun 2;269(21):2739.]. *JAMA*. 1993;269(4):494-497.
- Foresman PA, Payne DS, Becker D, Lewis D, and Rodeheaver GT. A relative toxicity index for wound cleansers. *Wounds*. 1993;5:226-231.
- Goodridge DM, Sloan JA, LeDoyen YM, McKenzie JA, Knight WE, and Gayari M. Risk-assessment scores, prevention strategies, and the incidence of pressure ulcers among the elderly in four Canadian health-care facilities. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research.* 1998; 30(2):23-44.
- Gorse GJ, and Messner RL. Improved pressure sore healing with hydrocolloid dressings. *Archives of Dermatology.* 1987;123(6):766-771.
- Gunningberg L, Lindholm C, Carlsson M, and Sjoden PO. Reduced incidence of pressure ulcers in patients with hip fractures: a 2-year follow-up of quality indicators. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*. 2001;13(5):399-407.
- Harrison MB, Wells G, Fisher A, Prince M. Practice guidelines for the prediction and prevention of pressure ulcers: evaluating the evidence. *Applied Nursing Research*. 1996;9(1):9-17.

- Hellewell TB, Major DA, Foresman PA, Rodeheaver GT. A cytotoxicity evaluation of antimicrobial and non-antimicrobial wound cleanser. *Wounds*. 1997;9:15-20.
- Kramer JD, and Kearney M. Patient, wound, and treatment characteristics associated with healing in pressure ulcers. *Advances in Skin and Wound Care*. 2000;13(1):17-24.
- Lazarus GS, Cooper DM, Knighton DR, et al. Definitions and guidelines for assessment of wounds and evaluation of healing. *Archives of Dermatology*. 1994;130(4):489-493.
- Lyder CH, Preston J, Grady JN, et al. Quality of care for hospitalized medicare patients at risk for pressure ulcers. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 2001;161(12):1549-1554.
- Martin SJ, Corrado OJ, and Kay EA. Enzymatic debridement for necrotic wounds. *Journal of Wound Care*. 1996;5(7):310-311.
- McNees P, Braden B, Bergstrom N, and Ovington L. Beyond risk assessment: elements for pressure ulcer prevention. *Ostomy Wound Management.* 1998;44(3A Suppl):51S-58S.
- Mohide EA, Pringle DM, Streiner DL, Gilbert JR, Muir G, and Tew M. A randomized trial of family caregiver support in the home management of dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1990;38(4):446-454.
- Mulder GD. Evaluation of three nonwoven sponges in the debridement of chronic wounds. *Ostomy Wound Management.* 1995;41(3):62-64.
- NPUAP. Statement on Pressure Ulcer Prevention. Reston, VA: National Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel; 1992.
- Pinchcofsky-Devin G.D., and Kaminski M.V. Jr. Correlation of pressure sores and nutritional status. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1986;34:435-440.
- Report: N. NPUAP Statement of Reverse Staging of Pressure Ulcers 1995.
- Robson MC. Disturbances of wound healing. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 1988;17(12):1274-1278.
- Smith DM. Pressure ulcers in the nursing home. [see comments.]. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1995;123(6):433-442.
- Stotts NA, Rodeheaver GT, Thomas DR, et al. An instrument to measure healing in pressure ulcers: development and validation of the pressure ulcer scale for healing

- (PUSH). Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2001;56(12):M795-799.
- Sussman C. Presenting a draft pressure ulcer scale to monitor healing. *Advances in Wound Care*. 1997;10(5):92.
- Taler G. Management of pressure ulcers in long-term care. *Advances in Wound Care.* 1997;10(5):50-52.
- Thomas DR. The role of nutrition in prevention and healing of pressure ulcers. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*. 1997;13(3):497-511.
- Thomas DR. Issues and dilemmas in the prevention and treatment of pressure ulcers: a review. *Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*. 2001;56(6):M328-340.
- Thomas DR, Rodeheaver GT, Bartolucci AA, et al. Pressure ulcer scale for healing: derivation and validation of the PUSH tool. The PUSH Task Force. *Advances in Wound Care*. 1997;10(5):96-101.
- Treatment of Pressure Ulcers Guideline Panel. *Treatment of Pressure Ulcers Clinical Practice Guideline, No. 15.* Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Health Care Policy and Research; 1994 AHCPR Publication no. 95-0652.
- van Rijskijk L, and Braden BJ. Pressure ulcer patient and wound assessment: an AHCPR clinical practice guideline update. *Ostomy Wound Management*. Jan 1999;45(1A Suppl):56S-67S. Review.
- Vap PW, and Dunaye T. Pressure ulcer risk assessment in long-term care nursing. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing.* 2000;26(6):37-45.
- Waldrop JA. Pressure Ulcers. *Rehabilitation Mangagement*. Oct-Nov 1998;11(6):40-42, 44-45.
- Woodbury M.G., Houghton P.E., Campbell D.E., and Keast D.H. Pressure ulcer assessment instruments: a critical appraisal. *Ostomy Wound Management*. May 1999;45(5):42-45, 48-50-53-45. Review.
- Xakellis GC, Jr. Quality assurance programs for pressure ulcers. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*. 1997;13(3):599-606.

- Xakellis GC, and Chrischilles EA. Hydrocolloid versus saline-gauze dressings in treating pressure ulcers: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 1992;73(5):463-469.
- Xakellis GC, Jr., and Frantz RA. Pressure ulcer healing: what is it? What influences it? How is it measured? *Advances in Wound Care*. 1997;10(5):20-26.
- Xakellis GC, Frantz RA, Arteaga M, Nguyen M, and Lewis A. A comparison of patient risk for pressure ulcer development with nursing use of preventive interventions. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1992;40(12):1250-1254.

URINARY INCONTINENCE REFERENCES

- Berghmans LC, Frederiks CM, de Bie RA, et al. Efficacy of biofeedback, when included with pelvic floor muscle exercise treatment, for genuine stress incontinence. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*. 1996;15(1):37-52.
- Borrie MJ, and Davidson HA. Incontinence in institutions: costs and contributing factors. CMAJ (Canadian Medical Association Journal). 1992;147(3):322-328.
- Burgio KL, Robinson JC, Engel BT. The role of biofeedback in Kegel exercise training for stress urinary incontinence. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 1986;154(1):58-64.
- Burgio KL, Locher JL, Goode PS, et al. Behavioral vs drug treatment for urge urinary incontinence in older women: a randomized controlled trial. [see comments.]. *JAMA*. 1998;280(23):1995-2000.
- Burgio KL, Locher JL, and Goode PS. Combined behavioral and drug therapy for urge incontinence in older women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2000;48(4):370-374.
- Burns PA, Pranikoff K, Nochajski TH, Hadley EC, Levy KJ, and Ory MG. A comparison of effectiveness of biofeedback and pelvic muscle exercise treatment of stress incontinence in older community-dwelling women. *Journal of Gerontology*. 1993;48(4):M167-174.
- Chang PL, Tsai LH, Huang ST, Wang TM, Hsieh ML, and Tsui KH. The early effect of pelvic floor muscle exercise after transurethral prostatectomy. *Journal of Urology*. 1998;160(2):402-405.
- Colling J, Ouslander J, Hadley BJ, Eisch J, and Campbell E. The effects of patterned urgeresponse toileting (PURT) on urinary incontinence among nursing home residents. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1992;40(2):135-141.
- Couillard DR, Deckard-Janatpour KA, and Stone AR. The vaginal wall sling: a compressive suspension procedure for recurrent incontinence in elderly patients. *Urology.* 1994;43(2):203-208.
- Creason NS, Grybowski JA, Burgener S, Whippo C, Yeo S, and Richardson B. Prompted voiding therapy for urinary incontinence in aged female nursing home residents. *Journal of Advanced Nursing.* 1989;14(2):120-126.

- Cummings V, Holt R, van der Sloot C, Moore K, and Griffiths D. Costs and management of urinary incontinence in long-term care. *Journal of Wocn.* 1995;22(4):193-198.
- Diokno AC, Brown MB, Brock BM, Herzog AR, and Normolle DP. Clinical and cystometric characteristics of continent and incontinent noninstitutionalized elderly. *Journal of Urology*. 1988;140(3):567-571.
- Diokno A, and Yuhico M, Jr. Preference, compliance and initial outcome of therapeutic options chosen by female patients with urinary incontinence. *Journal of Urology*. 1995;154(5):1727-1730; discussion 1731.
- Dugan E, Cohen SJ, Bland DR, et al. The association of depressive symptoms and urinary incontinence among older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2000;48(4):413-416.
- Eastwood HD, and Warrell R. Urinary incontinence in the elderly female: prediction in diagnosis and outcome of management. *Age and Ageing*. 1984;13(4):230-234.
- Engel BT, Burgio LD, McCormick KA, Hawkins AM, Scheve AA, and Leahy E. Behavioral treatment of incontinence in the long-term care setting. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1990;38(3):361-363.
- Fantl JA, Wyman JF, McClish DK, et al. Efficacy of bladder training in older women with urinary incontinence. *JAMA*. 1991;265(5):609-613.
- Fleishman R, Heilbrun G, Mandelson J, and Shirazi V. Improving the quality of institutional care of urinary incontinence among the elder: a challenge for governmental regulation. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance Incorporating Leadership in Health Services*. 1999;12(2-3):105-119.
- Galloway NT. Surgical treatment of urinary incontinence in geriatric women. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences*. 1997; 314(4): 268-272.
- Georgiou A, Potter J, Brocklehurst JC, Lowe D, and Pearson M. Measuring the quality of urinary continence in long-term care facilities: an analysis of outcome indicators. *Age and Aging.* 2001;30(1):63-66.
- Heavner K. Urinary incontinence in extended care facilities: a literature review and proposal for continuous quality improvement. *Ostomy Wound Management*. 1998;44(12):46-48.
- Hegland A. Incontinence: targeting treatment approaches. *Provider*. 1994;20(7):26-30.

- Holmes DM, Montz FJ, and Stanton SL. Oxybutinin versus propantheline in the management of detrusor instability. A patient-regulated variable dose trial. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 1989;96(5):607-612.
- Hu TW, Igou JF, Kaltreider DL, et al. A clinical trial of a behavioral therapy to reduce urinary incontinence in nursing homes. Outcome and implications. [see comments.]. *JAMA*. 1989;261(18):2656-2662.
- Igou J. Incontinence in nursing homes. Research and treatment issues from the nursing perspective. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*. 1986;2(4):873-885.
- Iqbal P, and Castleden CM. Management of urinary incontinence in the elderly. *Gerontology*. 1997;43(3):151-157.
- Jensen JK, Nielsen FR, Jr., and Ostergard DR. The role of patient history in the diagnosis of urinary incontinence. *Obstetrics and Gynecology.* 1994;83(5 Pt 2):904-910
- Johnson TM, 2nd, and Busby-Whitehead J. Diagnostic assessment of geriatric urinary incontinence. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences*. 1997;314(4):250-256.
- Johnson TM, Ouslander JG, Uman GC, and Schnelle JF. Urinary incontinence treatment preferences in long-term care. [see comments.]. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 2001;49(6):710-718.
- Laubach J. The problem of urinary incontinence in the elderly. *North Carolina Medical Journal*. 1999;60(1):42-45.
- Leach GE, Dmochowski RR, Appell RA, et al. Female Stress Urinary Incontinence Clinical Guidelines Panel summary report on surgical management of female stress urinary incontinence. The American Urological Association. [see comments.]. *Journal of Urology.* 1997;158(3 Pt 1):875-880.
- Lekan-Rutledge D. Diffusion of innovation. A model for implementation of prompted voiding in long-term care settings. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*. 2000;26(4):25-33.
- Litwiller SE, Nelson RS, Fone PD, Kim KB, and Stone AR. Vaginal wall sling: long-term outcome analysis of factors contributing to patients satisfaction and surgical success. [see comments.]. *Journal of Urology.* 1997;157(4):1279-1282.
- McCormick KA. Research. From clinical trial to health policy--research on urinary incontinence in the adult, Part I. *Journal of Professional Nursing*. 1991;7(3):147.

- Miller JM, Ashton-Miller JA, and DeLancey JO. A pelvic muscle precontraction can reduce cough-related urine loss in selected women with mild SUI. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1998;46(7):870-874.
- Morris A, Browne G, and Saltmarche A. Urinary incontinence: correlates among cognitively impaired elderly veterans. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*. 1992;18(10):33-40.
- Murphy KP, Kliever EM, and Moore MJ. The voiding alert system: a new application in the treatment of incontinence. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 1994;75(8):924-927.
- Ouslander JG, Hepps K, Raz S, and Su HL. Genitourinary dysfunction in a geriatric outpatient population. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1986;34(7):507-514.
- Ouslander JG, Morishita L, Blaustein J, Orzeck S, Dunn S, and Sayre J. Clinical, functional, and psychosocial characteristics of an incontinent nursing home population. *Journal of Gerontology*. 1987;42(6):631-637.
- Ouslander J, Leach G, Abelson S, Staskin D, Blaustein J, and Raz S. Simple versus multichannel cystometry in the evaluation of bladder function in an incontinent geriatric population. *Journal of Urology*. 1988;140(6):1482-1486.
- Ouslander JG, Blaustein J, Connor A, and Pitt A. Habit training and oxybutynin for incontinence in nursing home patients: a placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1988;36(1):40-46.
- Ouslander JG, Blaustein J, Connor A, Orzeck S, and Yong CL. Pharmacokinetics and clinical effects of oxybutynin in geriatric patients. *Journal of Urology*. 1988;140(1):47-50.
- Ouslander J, Leach G, Staskin D, et al. Prospective evaluation of an assessment strategy for geriatric urinary incontinence. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1989;37(8):715-724.
- Ouslander JG, Palmer MH, Rovner BW, and German PS. Urinary incontinence in nursing homes: incidence, remission and associated factors. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1993;41(10):1083-1089.
- Ouslander JG, Schnelle JF, Uman G, et al. Predictors of successful prompted voiding among incontinent nursing home residents. [see comments.]. *JAMA*. 1995;273(17):1366-1370.

- Ouslander JG, Schnelle JF, Uman G, et al. Does oxybutynin add to the effectiveness of prompted voiding for urinary incontinence among nursing home residents? A placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1995;43(6):610-617.
- Palmer MH, Bennett RG, Marks J, McCormick KA, and Engel BT. Urinary incontinence: a program that works. *Journal of Long Term Care Administration*. 1994;22(2):19-25.
- Palmer MH. A new framework for urinary continence outcomes in long-term care. *Urologic Nursing.* 1996;16(4):146-151.
- Palmer MH, Czarapata BJ, Wells TJ, and Newman DK. Urinary outcomes in older adults: research and clinical perspectives. *Urologic Nursing*. 1997;17(1):2-9.
- Pannill FC, 3rd, Williams TF, and Davis R. Evaluation and treatment of urinary incontinence in long term care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1988;36(10):902-910.
- Peet SM, Castleden CM, McGrother CW, and Duffin HM. The management of urinary incontinence in residential and nursing homes for older people. *Age and Ageing*. 1996;25(2):139-143.
- Pfister SM, and Dougherty MC. Behavioral management for bladder control: response in selected rural residential care homes. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*. 1994;11(3):155-164.
- Pinkowski PS. Urinary incontinence in the long-term care facility. *Journal of Wocn.* 1996;23(6):309-313.
- Resnick NM, and Yalla SV. Detrusor hyperactivity with impaired contractile function. An unrecognized but common cause of incontinence in elderly patients. *JAMA*. 1987;257(22):3076-3081.
- Resnick NM, Yalla SV, and Laurino E. The pathophysiology of urinary incontinence among institutionalized elderly persons. [see comments.]. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1989;320(1):1-7.
- Resnick NM. Urinary incontinence. Lancet. 1995;346(8967):94-99.
- Sand PK, Bowen LW, Panganiban R, Ostergard DR. The low pressure urethra as a factor in failed retropubic urethropexy. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 1987;69(3 Pt 1):399-402.

- Sand PK, Richardson DA, Staskin DR, et al. Pelvic floor electrical stimulation in the treatment of genuine stress incontinence: a multicenter, placebo-controlled trial. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology.* 1995;173(1):72-79.
- Sander R. Promoting urinary continence in residential care. *Nursing Standard*. 1999;14(13-15):49-53.
- Schnelle JF, Newman DR, and Fogarty T. Management of patient continence in long-term care nursing facilities. *Gerontologist.* 1990;30(3):373-376.
- Schnelle JF. Treatment of urinary incontinence in nursing home patients by prompted voiding. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1990;38(3):356-360.
- Schnelle JF, Newman DR, Fogarty TE, Wallston K, and Ory M. Assessment and quality control of incontinence care in long-term nursing facilities. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society.* 1991;39(2):165-171.
- Schnelle JF, McNees P, Crooks V, and Ouslander JG. The use of a computer-based model to implement an incontinence management program. *Gerontologist.* 1995;35(5):656-665.
- Schnelle JF, and Smith RL. Quality indicators for the management of urinary incontinence in vulnerable community-dwelling elders. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2001;135(8 Pt 2):752-758.
- Sloss EM, Solomon DH, Shekelle PG, et al. Selecting target conditions for quality of care improvement in vulnerable older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2000;48(4):363-369.
- Sneddon D. Continence assessment in long-term care. *Professional Nurse*. 1999;15(1):32-34.
- Starer P. Evaluation and management of urinary incontinence in older patients. *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine*. 1993;60(6):502-514.
- Summitt RL, Jr., Bent AE, Ostergard DR, and Harris TA. Stress incontinence and low urethral closure pressure. Correlation of preoperative urethral hypermobility with successful suburethral sling procedures. *Journal of Reproductive Medicine*. 1990;35(9):877-880.

- Szonyi G, Collas DM, Ding YY, and Malone-Lee JG. Oxybutynin with bladder retraining for detrusor instability in elderly people: a randomized controlled trial. *Age and Ageing*. 1995;24(4):287-291.
- Taft C. A team approach to managing urinary incontinence. *Geriatric Nursing*. 1999;20(2):94-97.
- Tapp AJ, Cardozo LD, Versi E, and Cooper D. The treatment of detrusor instability in post-menopausal women with oxybutynin chloride: a double blind placebo controlled study. [see comments.]. *British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*. 1990;97(6):521-526.
- Watson R. Urinary incontinence in elderly people. *Elderly Care*. 1997;9(5):27-32; quiz 33-24.
- Wells TJ, Brink CA, Diokno AC, Wolfe R, and Gillis GL. Pelvic muscle exercise for stress urinary incontinence in elderly women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1991;39(8):785-791.
- Wyman JF, Fantl JA, McClish DK, and Bump RC. Comparative efficacy of behavioral interventions in the management of female urinary incontinence. Continence Program for Women Research Group. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 1998;179(4):999-1007.
- Zorzitto ML, Holliday PJ, Jewett MA, Herschorn S, and Fernie GR. Oxybutynin chloride for geriatric urinary dysfunction: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. [see comments.]. *Age and Ageing.* 1989;18(3):195-200.